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We have achieved incredible things 
over the last year, but we will not rest 

on our laurels. We are committed 
to the continued growth and 
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Our story is just beginning.
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Our Prospectus  
set some very ambitious 

targets for our first year as 
a listed company, and I am 

very happy to report we 
have been able to eclipse 

those expectations
Tony Nash  

CEO and Managing Director  
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1. Active Customers are defined as someone who has placed an order through the Booktopia, Angus & Robertson, eBay and TradeMe channels in the 
prior 12 month period. 

2. Average Order Value is based on sales including GST but excluding any freight charged to customers, divided by the total number of orders in each 
financial year from Booktopia, Angus & Robertson, eBay and TradeMe sales channels.

3. Based on sales including GST and excluding freight income divided by the total number of customers in each financial year from Booktopia, Angus & 
Robertson, eBay, TradeMe and Amazon sales channels. Average Customer Spend is a moving average for the previous 12 months at that point in time.

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21

$71.10

$65.10

$57.80

$53.90$52.60$54.10
$51.70

Average Order Value2

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21

$126.90

$111.40

$98.50
$90.10$86.90$88.10$84.80

Average Spend Per Customer3

full year
highlights

30 June 2021

Revenue

$223.9m s+35%
FY20: $165.7m 

Prospectus: $204.5m +10%

Units Shipped

8.2m s+27%
FY20: 6.5m

Average annual spend per customer

$126.85 s+14%
FY20: $111.43

Underlying EBITDA

$13.6m s+125%
FY20: $6.0m 

Prospectus: $9.4m +45% 

Active customers1

1.8m s+19%
FY20: 1.5m
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The business has a range of 
strategies in place to grow 
and diversify our revenue 
streams while ensuring we 

have the capacity, systems and 
processes in place to deliver 
our customers the best book 
buying experience possible. 

Chris Beare 
Chairman
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management, I am 
pleased to present the Booktopia Group Limited Annual 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2021.

I would like to first recognise the outstanding achievements 
of the staff and management at your company. In a fast-
moving, high-growth business like ours, it is critical that all 
of our people pull in the right direction, with a common 
purpose. In a year that presented a myriad of challenges 
for all businesses, I am pleased to report our people have 
remained completely focused on achieving our goal to be 
at the core of the Australian book industry.

The highlight of the year, and perhaps the biggest milestone 
in the company’s history, was our listing on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX) in early December. The investment 
of time and resources to become a publicly listed company 
should not be underestimated. It is an incredibly complex 
process with a range of moving parts. My fellow Board 
members, senior management and advisors should be 
congratulated on the success of the listing while also 
remaining focused on driving business performance.

As part of the initial public offering (IPO), we welcomed 
hundreds of new shareholders to the company including 
dozens of ‘mum and dad’ investors, large institutions, 
professional investors and a number of Booktopia 
employees. I would like to thank all of you for your support 
and hope you will remain with us over the long term.

As part of the transition to being a listed entity, we needed 
to expand the company’s Board of Directors to bring on 
a range of new skills, expertise and ideas. To that end, we 
were very lucky to secure Marina Go and Fiona Pak-Poy as 
Independent Non-Executive Directors prior to our IPO.

Fiona is an experienced non-executive director and has 
been involved in a wide array of industries including 
healthcare, e-commerce, software, financial services, 
retail and manufacturing. As at 30 June 2021, she was a 
non-executive director of Tyro, iSentia and the Sydney 
School of Entrepreneurship. She is a former member of the 
Federal Government’s Innovation Australia Board, ASIC’s 
Director Advisory Panel and a Councillor for The Australian 
Investment Council. She is also Chair of Booktopia’s Audit & 
Risk Committee.

Marina has over 25 years of leadership experience in the 
media industry, having started her career as a journalist. 
She is the Chair of Netball Australia, Ovarian Cancer 
Australia and The Walkley Foundation, and is currently a 
non-executive director on the boards of Energy Australia, 
7-Eleven, Autosports Group, Adore Beauty and Pro-
Packaging.

Fiona and Marina have added a range of new experiences 
and insights to the Board and have been critical to our 
success over the last year.

During the year we also added Booktopia’s Deputy CEO 
and Chief Technology Officer Wayne Baskin to the Board 
as an Executive Director. Wayne began as Booktopia’s first 
developer in 2008. He and his team of 30 developers have 
built all systems for the company, including Booktopia’s 
website, Warehouse Management System and Content, 
Customer and Order Management System.

As well as myself, the Booktopia Board now comprises 
Ms Pak-Poy, Ms Go, Non-Executive Director Su-Ming Wong, 
Chief Executive Officer Tony Nash, Chief Commercial 
Officer Steve Traurig, and Mr Baskin.

With our listing completed the Board’s focus for the 
rest of the year was ensuring we were able to meet the 
expectations established in our Prospectus. Ultimately, we 
were able to beat all the financial targets we had set with 
total revenue of $223.9 million beating forecasts by 10% 
and underlying EBITDA of $13.6 million beating forecasts 
by 45%. In our first year as a listed company, this was a 
very important achievement and establishes credibility and 
respect with the investment community.

The Board’s priority over the coming year will be to 
continue to support the management team as they drive 
the growth of Booktopia. The business has a range of 
strategies in place to grow and diversify our revenue 
streams while ensuring we have the capacity, systems and 
processes in place to deliver our customers the best book 
buying experience possible.

Finally, I would like to thank my fellow directors and the 
senior management team at Booktopia for their continued 
efforts throughout the year. We remain optimistic about 
the future of our company and hope you will join us on the 
journey ahead.

Kind Regards

Chris Beare
Chairman

chair’s  
report
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Our capital raising and 
listing on the ASX has 
given us the resources 

to pursue an aggressive 
growth strategy with the 
confidence we have the 

capacity to deliver on our 
customers’ expectations. 

Tony Nash  
CEO and Managing Director
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The financial year to the end of June 2021 was one of the 
most important in the history of Booktopia. We have come 
a long way since we sold our first book way back in 2004 
with a daily marketing budget of just $10 per day. Over the 
last 12 months, we shipped 8.2 million units at an average of 
one item every 3.9 seconds. 

From humble beginnings, we will enter our 18th year as 
Australia’s largest book retailer with 270 employees and 
more than 1 million books ready to go from our state-of-
the-art distribution centre. We have achieved incredible 
things over the last year, but we will not rest on our 
laurels. We are committed to the continued growth and 
development of Booktopia. Our story is just beginning.

Taking Booktopia public
It has been a long-held ambition of the Group’s founders to 
take Booktopia public. With the Group achieving excellent 
growth since our first attempt to list in 2016, we decided in 
mid-2020 that the time was right to raise some new capital 
and bring on new investors via an Initial Public Offer (IPO).

After lodging a prospectus in early November, we were 
overwhelmed with the level of support from both institutional 
and retail investors and our offer was hugely oversubscribed.

At the end of the financial year, our shares closed at $2.64, 
representing a 14.7% premium on the issue price of $2.30. 

As the CEO and a founding shareholder, I chose not to 
sell shares as part of the IPO because I lead a committed 
team dedicated to growing the value of Booktopia over 
the long term. The founding shareholders, and many 
members of our senior management team, retain significant 
shareholdings in Booktopia and will continue to make 
decisions based on the best interests of shareholders.

On behalf of the Executive Directors, Wayne Baskin, Steven 
Traurig and myself, we are incredibly grateful for the hard 
work of our team and advisors. They ensured listing on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) was a great success. 
The Booktopia Board, in particular our Chairman, Chris 
Beare and our Non-Executive Directors, Fiona Pak-Poy, 
Marina Go and Su-Ming Wong were extremely valuable 
through the IPO process and even more so once we 
became a listed company. 

We are also very grateful for the monumental effort that 
everyone else played in the process particularly our 
Joint Lead Managers, Morgans and Shaw and Partners, 
our corporate advisors, AFSG Capital and ANZ, our 
legal advisors Herbert Smith Freehills, our auditing 
accountants, Deloittes, and the many other consultants 
who made it possible. 

Delivering on our commitments
The priority in our first year as a listed company was to 
deliver on the commitments we made to shareholders 
in our prospectus. I am very happy to report that we not 
only met these forecasts but, in many cases, comfortably 
exceeded them. 

In the 12 months to June 30, 2021, the Group reported total 
revenue of $223.9 million, a 35% increase on the previous 
year and 10% above the $204.5 million forecast in the 
prospectus. Since 2018 the Group revenue has now grown 
at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 26%.

Underlying EBITDA (adjusted for IPO costs arising as a 
result of the IPO) for the year was $13.6 million, up 125% 
on the previous year and 45% above prospectus forecasts. 
The full-year result was achieved on a 27% increase in total 
units shipped to 8.2 million, an average annual spend per 
customer of $126.85 (FY20: $111.43) and an average order 
value of $71.07 (FY20: $65.08).

The loss for the Group after providing for income tax 
amounted to $18.1 million (FY20: Profit of $0.2 million) 
driven by the changes in the fair value of redeemable 
preference shares of $18.6 million and $4.1 million of 
IPO costs. 

Earnings per share (EPS) for the year was (14.20) cents, 
(FY20: 0.17 cents). Adjusted for the IPO costs of $2.9 million 
(net of tax) and the change in the fair value of the 
redeemable preference shares ($18.6 million), EPS was 
2.66 cents (FY20: 0.95 cents). 

The story behind our success
Our performance during FY21 was no accident or quirk of 
history. We have been building towards the successes of 
the last 12 months since 2004.

We have developed a market-leading and category 
dominant position by being obsessed with our customers 
and delivering them an exceptional experience when they 
interact with us. We do this by ensuring we hold in stock 
a massive range of titles ready-to-ship. Using some of the 
funds from our IPO we were able to grow our inventory 
capacity from 797,000 units to 1.71 million units across 
150,000 separate stocked titles. 

Funds from the IPO were also utilised to invest in more 
automation and efficiency at our distribution centre at 
Lidcombe, in Sydney, to ensure we can get books packed, 
and out the door, as quickly as possible. The investments in 
automation increased the outbound capacity from 30,000 
units per day to a potential 60,000 units per day. 

ceo’s  
report
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The Group plans to invest further into distribution facilities 
between FY22 and FY24. This investment aims to expand 
the current DC facilities and to leverage automation further 
across all current and future facilities (for example by adding 
more robotics and conveyor lines, packing machines and 
put away/picking technologies) to increase efficiency and 
reduce the cost per unit shipped.

As well as physical assets, Booktopia has invested for 
many years in its own proprietary software systems that 
manage its websites, Warehouse Management Systems, 
algorithms, Content Management Systems, data feeds, 
data warehouses, digital marketing programs and many 
other systems. All of our systems are focused on optimising 
sales, reducing costs, maximising margins and holding the 
right inventory at the right time. 

By continuing to invest in our stocked titles, our distribution 
centre and our technology we will ensure that Booktopia 
continues to grow its market share, our customers’ 
expectations and shareholder wealth.

Looking forward
Continuing to grow our market penetration by enhancing 
our customer promise is just one part of Booktopia’s future 
growth plans. In addition to organic growth, we believe 
there is a significant opportunity to further consolidate the 
industry value chain in Australia and to use this model to 
enter new markets internationally. To support this strategy, 
the company has identified several initiatives to drive 
revenue and earnings growth.

By partnering with other websites, businesses and 
marketplaces we will be able to leverage our brand and 
systems to reach even more customers. Booktopia already 
has a presence in Australian online stores including Kogan, 
eBay, MyDeal, Catch and Amazon. As well as continuing 
to expand these partnerships we will seek out new 
partners. As part of this strategy, in early 2021 we finalised 
a partnership with online educational technology group 
Zookal that is forecast to deliver in FY22.

We will also continue to seek further acquisitions of 
businesses in Australia and internationally which offer 
similar products and may benefit from the application 
of our expertise and existing infrastructure and systems. 
Our immediate focus is on Australia and New Zealand. 
Expansion into other markets may represent an attractive 
medium-term potential growth opportunity where the 
company believes it can achieve appropriate returns. 

KEY OPERATING METRICS
FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21

Average Order Value ($ per order) 53.88 57.81 65.08 71.07 

Average Selling Price ($ per unit shipped) 23.79 24.73 25.80 27.39

Average Customer Spend ($ per customer per year) 90.12 98.54 111.43 126.85

Units shipped (000s) 4,824 5,370 6,451 8,173 

KEY FINANCIAL METRICS
FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21

Revenue growth –  15.8%  28.4%  35.1% 

Gross profit growth (%) – 11.1% 25.9% 36.2% 

Gross profit ($ per unit shipped) 6.43 6.42 6.73 7.42 

Net freight cost ($ per unit shipped) 0.71 0.74 0.53 0.48

Distribution Centre wages ($ per unit shipped) 1.02 1.26 1.42 1.42 

Marketing expenses ($ per unit shipped) 1.61 1.69 1.60 1.25

EBITDA margin (EBITDA/revenue %)  3.7%  2.8%  3.6%  5.9% 

booktopia
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All acquisitions will continue to be considered based 
on their merits, the long-term revenue goals and most 
importantly their ability to contribute to the profits of 
the company.

We will continue to scale up our publishing and distribution 
arms as part of our goal to be at the core of the Australian 
book industry. Our Booktopia Publisher Services (BPS) 
distribution business is focused on adding more publishers 
to the list that it represents. BPS provides an attractive value 
proposition to publishers and bookstores by providing 
available inventory or competitive margins. Our Booktopia 
Publishing division also continues to build momentum and 
is planning to publish over 100 new books in the FY22 year. 
This is forecast to continue to grow by at least 100 new 
books in future years. The Publishing division uses BPS to 
distribute its books to retailers and resellers across Australia 
and New Zealand.

The future is bright
The last 18 months have been a challenging time for many 
communities and businesses. As I write this, our home city 
of Sydney is deep into an extended lockdown that has 
had a significant impact on all residents, including many of 
our employees.

Despite the current situation, we remain optimistic about 
the future and the promises presented by the growing 
levels of vaccination and a return to more normal economic 

conditions. Our capital raising and listing on the ASX has 
given us the resources to pursue an aggressive growth 
strategy with the confidence we have the capacity to 
deliver on our customers’ expectations.

We will continue to benefit from the accelerated adoption 
of online shopping and an increase in discretionary 
spending due to travel restrictions. 

While we are optimistic, we are cognisant of the ongoing 
impact of COVID-19, geographic lockdowns and the 
vaccine rollout, both in Australia and internationally. 
There is still a high degree of uncertainty around the 
domestic economy and the return to ‘COVID normal’.

We will continue our growth strategy, investing in key areas 
of the business to cement our online market leadership 
and drive increased market share with an ongoing 
‘customer obsession’ mindset to ensure our offering is 
second to none.

Tony Nash
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

annual report 2021

9



booktopia

10



Tony Nash
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Tony was involved in the establishment of Booktopia in 2004 while working in his family’s internet marketing consulting 
business. He has been instrumental in growing the company and formulating its business strategy throughout that time. 
Since 2007 he has held the role of Chief Executive Officer. Tony has received several awards and is an industry-recognised 
leader in the book retail and online retailing industry in Australia. 

Wayne Baskin 
Deputy CEO, Chief Technology Officer

Wayne started as Booktopia’s first developer in 2008 and built the company’s bespoke website, their custom Warehouse 
Management System and was responsible for the implementation of the business’ pricing and inventory algorithms. 
As Deputy CEO, he is responsible for the overall business strategy, vision and customer experience while also overseeing 
logistics and the business’ pricing and inventory strategy.

Steffen Daleng
Chief Marketing Officer

Steffen has 15 years in e-commerce and Digital with a focus on customer acquisition, retention, brand positioning, loyalty 
and creating digital experiences. He was voted #15 in the Top People in e-commerce in 2021. Before joining Booktopia in 
2018, he held senior executive positions at the University Co-operative Bookshop and Australian Geographic Retail.

Alex Huntley
Head of Customer Experience

Alex has more than 20 years of Customer Experience and Customer Service senior leadership experience in the 
e-commerce, finance, and telecommunications sectors. Extensive experience in change management, continuous 
improvement, and establishing best-practice standards and operating approaches including, COPC, CSIA standards and 
LEAN. He has been with Booktopia for 8 years.

Michelle Jouve
Head of Corporate Development

Michelle has over 15 years of experience in corporate development, business strategy, investment banking, M&A and 
capital markets across various industries. She holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Actuarial Studies) from The University of 
Melbourne and works closely with the senior management on the company’s acquisitions and partnerships.

our  
people
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Fiona Levens
Group Financial Controller

Fiona has over 25 years experience in finance across a broad range of industries including retail, sports, hospitality and 
mining sectors. She spent 9 years as a forensic accountant and has been with Booktopia for over 10 years in a wide variety 
of finance, data and reporting roles. She has spent the last 10 months transforming the finance function to embrace the 
requirements of a listed company.

Jo Lewin
Head of Merchandise

Jo has more than 15 years of retail buying experience across bricks and mortar and e-commerce, including 10 years at 
David Jones. Joining Booktopia in 2018, she is a passionate advocate for the Australian book industry, experienced at 
realising the potential of authors, publishers and brands in a retail setting.

Dennys Martinez
Chief Logistics Officer

Joining Booktopia in early 2021, Dennys has more than 25 plus years of experience in supply chain management, 
supporting retail and e-commerce businesses including Target, BigW, David Jones, Grays Online and Toys“R”Us. He has 
particular expertise in establishing automated Distribution Centres to meet current market trends.

Franscois McHardy
Head of Publishing

Franscois has more than 25 years of experience in the book publishing industry. Before joining Booktopia in 2019 he held 
senior executive roles in the industry including Managing Director of Simon & Schuster Australia; Editorial Director at 
Doubleday Australia; Marketing & Publicity Manager at Hodder Headline Australia; and Sales & Marketing Director at 
Random House SA.

Michelle Rowe
National Sales Manager

Michelle has 30 years of experience in various sales roles and has strong skills in managing salespeople and building 
successful teams. She has been with Booktopia nearly 2 years and speaks five languages.

Jonathan Seifman
Head of Booktopia Publisher Services

Jonathan has over 15 years of experience in the publishing industry, including several senior management roles covering 
the Asia Pacific region with global publisher Wolters Kluwer. He has worked as Head of Booktopia Publisher Services 
since May 2018.

booktopia
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Geoff Stalley
Chief Financial Officer

Geoff joined Booktopia in 2020 as the Chief Financial Officer and was previously the Chief Growth Officer for Serco Asia 
Pacific, a global public sector services business. Geoff has a long career working for major professional services firms 
(AT Kearney, Andersen, EY and Deloitte) and global and Australian clients on projects spanning corporate innovation, 
new business growth, complex transformations, and merger integration.

Cathy Tran
Head of Planning

Cathy has over 20 years of retail experience including 12 years of Planning Management across a diverse range of key 
businesses. Her role is critical to driving sales and profit improvement through inventory profiling and control. She joined 
Booktopia with the acquisition of the University Co-operative Bookshop nearly 2 years ago and has played a critical role in 
the strategy and growth of Booktopia’s Key Account team.

Steven Traurig
Chief Commercial Officer

Steven was involved in the establishment of Booktopia. He began his career at IBM Australia as a software engineer and 
subsequently pre-sales systems engineer, before joining Somerset Systems in 1992 specialising in business development 
and consulting in e-commerce and workflow. He has been in the online commerce industry for over 20 years.

Scott Verrall 
Head of Data and BI

Scott has 25 years of experience in Information and Technology and Data Analytics across Retail, Insurance and Banking. 
Before joining Booktopia in 2020, he was Head of Data Analytics and Research for HCF and GM Strategy and Customer 
Analytics at Allianz. He is passionate about understanding the customer and their behaviours and using this insight to 
provide excellent experiences.

Kirsty Ward
Head of Strategy Development 

Kirsty has spent 21 years working in the book industry with a wide range of experience across different sectors such as 
market research, publishing and more recently in retail. Since joining Booktopia 6 years ago, she has worked at Booktopia 
as the Pricing and Inventory Strategist and now Head of Strategy Development. Before the book industry, Kirsty worked 
at ACNielsen for 10 years in a variety of operational management roles.
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Booktopia was established in a small office in North 
Sydney in 2004. From an initial marketing budget of 
$10 a day, we have grown to be the largest Australian-
owned online book retailer by market share. That first 
$10 was spent on online advertising and it took three 
days to sell our first book. By the end of the first year, 
over $436,000 of books had been sent to customers 
and within three years of being created Booktopia had 
increased annual sales to $1.8 million.

In late 2006, the company established its first 
warehouse operation and in early 2007 it stocked its 
first title. Having our own warehouse allowed us to 
buy and hold stock that could be despatched directly 
to customers instead of having to order books from 
suppliers and wait for them to arrive before sending 
to customers. 

In 2014, Booktopia moved to its third warehouse 
location in seven years with a 10,000 square metre 
facility in Lidcombe that was expanded to 14,000 
square metres in 2016. This move started our journey 
into automation which continues to this day. With 
increased capacity, we were able to grow even 
faster and in 2015 we completed the acquisition 
and successful integration of book retailer Angus & 
Robertson. Booktopia has relished the opportunity 
to revitalise the brand, which has been a fixture in the 
Australian business and cultural landscape since 1886.

As the retail operation continued to grow and prosper, 
Booktopia established its Booktopia Publisher Services 
distribution solution in 2017 for bookstores, academic 
institutions, corporates and government and in 2019 
created its first book imprint called “Booktopia 
Editions” through its Booktopia Publishing brand.

Booktopia was in a strong position throughout the 
COVID-19 crisis in 2020 and on December 3, 2020, 
it was listed on the Australian Securities Exchange 
(ASX), not only enabling it to raise funds for its future 
but also to allow staff and customers to participate in 
its success.

Over the last 12 months, we have further refined our 
strategy to be a market leading, category dominant, 
online retailer. This strategy is built on seven pillars.

1 Leverage the e-commerce 
mega trend
Ongoing trends to online retailing drive the 
continued growth of the Group.

2 Build market leading and category 
dominant position
Recession proof, pandemic proof and 
Amazon proof.

3 Proven model
Strong and consistent revenue/profit growth 
through operating leverage and increasingly 
automated distribution facilities.

4 Customer obsessed
Stock holding, buying, merchandising & 
customer service, dedicated digital marketing 
programs, expert recommendations.

5 Innovation
Measured investment in automation, software, 
algorithms, data analytics and robotics, driving 
customer engagement.

6 Founder-led management team
Dynamic, experienced with strong capability to 
execute long term strategy.

7 End to end services
Incorporating publishing, distribution and 
online retail.

our  
story
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Booktopia has developed an extensive supply chain with 
suppliers sourcing products from around the world with 
strong working relationships with Australia Post, various 
publishers, distributors and other affiliates. A key element 
in the supply chain is the Group’s distribution centre (DC) 
located in Lidcombe, Western Sydney. The facilities in 
the centre have been custom designed and built from 
the ground up to enhance the efficiency of key activities 
including picking and packing technologies. The DC is 
highly automated with conveyor lines and software systems 
that are central to the efficient moving of products into, 
within and out of the DC.

Areas of Business

Online Retail
The majority of Booktopia’s revenue and profit is generated 
through Booktopia’s premier site – www.booktopia.com.au 
– through the sale of books, ebooks and audio books with 
additional income from other products such as stationery, 
gift certificates and services. The Angus & Robertson 
website adds a sense of history to the Booktopia stable 
with the brand having been established in 1886. Many 
Australians bought their first book from a local Angus & 
Roberson store which were located throughout the country.

Marketplaces and partnerships are a very important part of 
Booktopia’s outreach to the Australian and New Zealand 
markets and Booktopia continues to invest in its visibility 

through online channels of all kinds. Booktopia’s 
merchandising, sales and marketing teams employ 
talented, passionate book specialists that help customers 
connect with the books they love, or don’t even know they 
love yet through both constant, as well as campaign-driven 
activities, throughout the year.

Publisher Services
Booktopia’s Publisher Services division is Booktopia’s 
distribution operation that services online and bricks-
and-mortar book stores, library suppliers and non-book 
retailers. Booktopia retail services businesses, government 
and academic institutions on behalf of a growing list of 
small and large publishers who want their books to reach 
Australian audiences. Holding more stock on behalf of the 
publishers and providing deeper discounts to its B2B clients 

are shown in the diagram below.

Publishing
Booktopia Publishing provides trade publishing services 
to established and budding authors alike. It focuses on 
non-fiction, fiction and children’s books with many local 
and international authors ‘on its books’. The integration 
of the Brio Books team during the year – a small specialist 
publisher with a 2021 Stella Prize Short List author in its 
stable – has assisted in bolstering the Booktopia Publishing 
efforts in honing and expanding their imprints and services 
offerings to become an attractive destination for those who 
want to tell their story.

our  
business model

Distribution 
& Publishing

Services Distribution
Centre

Expansion

Partnerships & 
Marketplaces

M&A
Opportunities

Customer
Engagement

Loyalty &
Subscription

Academic &
Corporate

Online
Growth

At the core of the 
Book industry

Online Retailing
• Increasing website 

traffic and 
conversion rate

• Continuing to 
expand into 
education and 
corporate sales

• Customer loyalty 
and subscription 
programs

• Leveraging 
customer database

Distribution and Publishing
• Expanding distribution 

and publishing services

• Continuing to invest in 
distribution centres

Partnerships and M&A
• Growth of partnerships 

and marketplaces

• Bolt-on opportunities
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Reporting on Environment,  
Social and Governance
Booktopia is in the process of developing and 
implementing a detailed ESG reporting framework. 
We are committed to exploring, selecting and 
implementing the best-fit framework for our business 
and describing and implementing measurements that 
will be adopted across our business. The sections below 
give an outline of our activities which will form part of 
our ESG strategy.

The five areas of our ESG focus are:

1. Our Customers (Social)

2. Our People (Social)

3. Supporting our Community (Social)

4. Responsible Business (Governance)

5. Environment & Sustainability (Environment)

Our Customers
Customer obsession is a phrase we take seriously at 
Booktopia and is embedded in everything we do.

Engaging with our customers is a key to our success, 
whether it be making Booktopia as contactable as possible 
through our customer service team over several channels, 
our continuous social media engagement, or collecting 
onsite customer reviews on our website, we focus on 
customer satisfaction and retention.

We conduct NPS (Net Promoter Score) measurements 
and spot surveys on different areas such as our packaging 
and delivery performance to ‘stay on the pulse’ and we 
encourage customers to tell others what they think about 
Booktopia by posting onto public review sites such as 
Product Review, Google reviews and the like.

Our People
Booktopia prides itself on respecting both gender and 
diversity across its team and instilling the principles 
of fairness and equality throughout the organisation. 
The organisation has grown not only in revenue since 
inception, but in the size of the talented team we have 
in all areas of the business. At the end of June 2021, the 
company had 263 staff, including full-time, part-time and 
casual employees. We undertake a range of initiatives to 
support our people, including;

 • Providing all new staff with a clear understanding of our 
culture, ethics and standards as part of a comprehensive 
onboarding process.

 • We have an Employer of Choice focus and have put in 
place ongoing initiatives and benefits including whole 
of company social events (Trivia nights, tenpin bowling, 
arts and craft nights).

 • As part of our pandemic management program all 
Booktopia staff who can do their work from home are 
encouraged to do so. The Booktopia distribution centre 
operates under very strict safety and hygiene regimes 
onsite to keep the workplace as safe as possible.

 • We have dedicated talent retention and attraction programs.

 • We provide employees with a range of non-traditional 
benefits and gifted some staff new Booktopia shares as 
part of the company’s IPO. 
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 • Booktopia embraces Equal Opportunity Hiring Policies 
and interview processes.

 • Implementing Gender and Diversity Policies, actions and 
reporting frameworks.

What do our team think? 
We conduct annual employee engagement surveys that 
seek to capture and measure the thoughts of our team in 
relation to working at Booktopia in areas such as employee 
involvement, work conditions and well-being, company 
communication, Booktopia’s handling of COVID-19 and 
safety. A similar measurement method to Net Promoter 
Scoring (NPS) is utilised; adding Promoters responses 
(Strongly Agree and Agree), subtracting Detractors 
responses (Disagree and Strongly Disagree) and excluding 
Neutrals. The survey includes a set of comparative 
questions that are asked year on year.

The overall employee Net Survey Score on the comparative 
questions increased positively by 31% from FY20, 
demonstrating Booktopia’s continual commitment to 
making Booktopia a better place to work.

TEAM SURVEY HIGHLIGHTS FY20 FY21

Strongly Agree and Agree %

Encouraged to use my initiative 78%  84%

Feeling respected when expressing 
opinions or concerns

61%  75%

I would recommend Booktopia to a 
relative/friend looking for work

90% 92%

My manager shows they genuinely 
care about my wellbeing

84% 91%

I feel part of the team working 
towards shared goals

71%  81%
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Supporting our Community
Booktopia has a very strong corporate ethos of giving 
back to the community. We actively sponsor and donate to 
community and education groups, including;

 • Indigenous literacy programs

 • Charities 

 • School libraries and school fundraising initiatives 

We are also major sponsors of various book industry prizes 
and literary festivals that lift their profiles in the community. 
Booktopia has donated over $500,000 of books in the last 
financial year to schools and charities and we continue to 
provide interesting and informative content to the wider 
community on Youtube, Facebook, Instagram and our blog.

Booktopia has donated over $500,000 
of books in the last financial year to schools 
and charities.

Responsible Business  
(Corporate Governance)
Our aim is not only to Do Business, but to Do Responsible 
Business and Be a Responsible Business. The Booktopia 
Values, Code of Conduct, Risk Management Policy, 
Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy, Securities Trading 
Policy and other policies and directives form the backbone 
of how Booktopia conducts itself. These are some of the 
key areas we focus on to ensure we do what we say:

 • Governance through the Board, its delegated 
Committees and Management committees

 • Financial strength and responsibility, coupled with 
responsible tax practice

 • Implementation of its Risk framework with suitable 
assessment and management

 • Active monitoring of our Supply Chain

 • Our Modern Slavery prevention program

 • Extensive use of Technology to provide Business 
Intelligence and reporting, cyber security, innovation

 • Compliance – ensuring contracts and regulatory 
compliance

 • Workplace Health & Safety monitoring and management

 • Data Privacy oversight

 • Our Whistleblowing program

Further information is detailed in the Corporate 
Governance Statement. 

Environment and Sustainability
Booktopia is committed to being environmentally 
responsible and aims to offset its energy consumption 
through initiatives such as its strategic cardboard and paper 
recycling program already in place. 

During the financial year, Booktopia recycled 
over 200 tonnes of paper and cardboard from 
its Distribution Centre in Lidcombe, up from 
188 tonnes the year before.

Booktopia also recycles office paper and cardboard waste, 
plastics and also is a participant in the ink toner cartridge 
recycling program through Planet Ark. Our commitment 
is to responsible environmental sustainability within our 
means in this ever-changing climate.
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directors’  
report

30 June 2021

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter 
as the ‘Group’) consisting of Booktopia Group Limited (referred to hereafter as the ‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) and the 
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2021.

Directors
The following persons were directors of Booktopia Group Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Christopher (Chris) Beare – Chairman

Antony (Tony) Nash

Wayne Baskin (appointed on 1 October 2020)

Steven Traurig

Fiona Pak-Poy (appointed on 15 September 2020)

Marina Go (appointed on 1 October 2020)

Su-Ming Wong

Simon Nash (resigned on 30 October 2020)

Principal activities
Booktopia Group (the Group) is Australia’s largest Australian owned online book retailer established in 2004 and was 
admitted to the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) in December 2020. The Group generates the majority of its revenue 
from the sale of physical books. It also sells eBooks, audiobooks, magazines and stationery. Customers largely consist of 
retail consumers with a growing number of corporate and government customers including schools, libraries, universities 
and government departments. Sales are generated via the Group’s two websites as well as listing select titles on online 
marketplaces in Australia and New Zealand. In addition, the Group offers publishers a distribution solution to the Australian 
and New Zealand market and also publishes select titles in print and digital formats under the Booktopia Editions imprint.

The Group has developed an extensive supply chain with suppliers sourcing product from around the world with strong 
working relationships with Australia Post, various publishers, distributors and other affiliates. A key element in the supply 
chain is the Group’s distribution centre (DC) located in Lidcombe, Western Sydney. The facilities in the centre have been 
custom designed and built from the ground up to enhance efficiency of key activities including picking and packing 
technologies. The DC is highly automated with conveyor lines and software systems which are central to the efficient 
moving of products into, within and out of the DC.

The Group’s business model is supported by the following key factors that have been drivers to its success:

 • In-house technology expertise: the Group’s in-house software expertise assists it to understand its customer and 
inventory needs and supplier relationships;

 • Specialist online marketing knowledge: the Group’s management has significant experience in Search Engine 
Optimisation. The Group’s strong in-house Search Engine Optimisation and paid search marketing skills further allow the 
business to target attractive customers with the goal of ensuring optimal return for its marketing spend;

 • Stock availability and fast delivery times: the Group’s supplier relationships and efficient DC, in addition to its 
commitment to holding Stocked Titles ‘ready-to-ship’, enhances the customer experience through titles being both 
available and able to be delivered quickly; and

 • Customer-centric focus: the Group’s customer focus from its senior management team to its DC staff and Australian-
based Customer Service call centre, is a key differentiator to many competitors. Other initiatives it employs include 
in-house book experts who curate and enhance content (including conducting author interviews and books signings) 
and also enhance customer experience that leads to and drives repeat business and customer loyalty.
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The Group’s key expenses incurred in generating revenue include: book purchases, marketing and advertising costs (Pay-
Per-Click advertising and affiliate commissions), marketing staff who manage the Group’s marketing initiatives, distribution 
costs and email marketing costs.

The Group’s proprietary software systems form a key part of its competitive strengths and support its business processes 
and practices. The Group uses a live data feed system that retrieves, manages and updates product data from suppliers’ 
websites, email and File Transfer Protocol (FTP) locations, for millions of products (including bibliographic, pricing and stock 
information) which are potentially available for sale by the Group. The Group’s proprietary systems also conduct ‘dynamic 
pricing’ for products (i.e. automatic price adjustment), maintain stock levels in line with expected demand and manage 
foreign currency exposure, to enhance stock turnover and revenue. The Group’s software is developed by an in-house team 
of developers using a range of predominantly open source applications and platforms.

In 2017, the Group launched a distribution arm of the business called Booktopia Publisher Services (BPS). BPS is appointed 
by Australian and International publishers as their distributor in the Australian and New Zealand (‘ANZ’) market. BPS has 
been able to leverage off the investment in automation, software and logistics to accelerate the expansion of this division. 
In 2019, the Group launched Booktopia Publishing as the Group’s trade publishing division that publishes books in print and 
digital formats under the Booktopia Editions imprint. All titles are sold and distributed to book retailers across the region 
via Booktopia’s distribution division, BPS. The book publishing and BPS businesses continue to develop their footprint in 
the market but are yet to be a major contributor to the Group’s results. As such, they are not separately reported and have 
been consolidated in the overall results.

Dividends
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

Operating and financial review
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic created a positive business environment for the Group during the period, with a 
significant uplift in online retailing where many new online shoppers entered the market and existing shoppers increased 
the frequency of purchasing. Hence, customer demand grew considerably during the period and especially during 
lockdowns which translated into sustained increased demand even following the relaxing of restrictions. As a result, the 
number of active customers1 grew from 1,532,000 to 1,819,000 during the period and the average spend per customer per 
year2 at June 30, 2021 was $126.85 compared to $111.43 at the same time last year.

Sales were up on the previous comparable period by 35% with strong performances in NSW and Victoria. Average order 
value3 grew from $65.08 to $71.07 and the average selling price4 increased from $25.80 to $27.39. Units shipped during the 
period was 8.2 million, 27% above the corresponding previous period. 

The COVID-19 pandemic also impacted the Group’s supply chain causing issues in sourcing of product and with the delivery 
to customers. Some product continued to be difficult to source from international suppliers creating delays for customers. 
Delays were also experienced in the delivery of product to customers due to ongoing lockdown situations in various states. 
To help mitigate this risk the Group put in place strategies to reduce the reliance on overseas suppliers, redirecting orders 
that would normally be placed with UK suppliers to US suppliers (less lockdown) and updating messaging on the website 
to advise customers of potential delays. Working closely with a major supplier in Victoria during the Victorian lockdown also 
ensured continued and uninterrupted supply of product. 

During the period the Group introduced further automation of the DC to increase the outbound capacity from 30,000 units 
per day to a potential 60,000 units per day. In addition, inventory capacity was increased from 797,000 to 1,713,000 units, 
representing over 150,000 separate stocked titles. Further automation was trialled to introduce robotics to the DC for ‘put 
away’ and ‘pulling’ activities and to enable their integration within the DC facility. The trials were successful and post year 
end the robots have commenced operational activities. 

Through proactive management the Group was able to optimise customer demand by limiting marketing activities to 
ensure the customer experience was maintained at an acceptable level. This resulted in substantial savings in marketing 
costs on a per unit basis from $1.53 to $1.25 largely due to a reduction in pay per click advertising. Offsetting this has 

1. Active Customers is based on customers who have purchased from the Group within the past twelve months.

2. Average Spend Per Customer Per Year is based on the amount spent by customers during the past twelve months.

3. Average Order Value is based on revenue including GST but excluding any freight charged to customers, divided by the total number of orders in 
each financial period.

4. Average Selling Price means average selling price per unit, calculated as net revenue for the period including GST but excluding any freight 
charged to customers divided by the number of units shipped for that period.
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been an increase in the labour costs for the DC due to the need to carefully manage our environment during the COVID 
pandemic. As a result operational costs increased on a per unit basis from $25.05 to $26.29.

Pleasingly the Group delivered revenues of $223.9 million vs $165.7 million for the same period last year. The increase in 
sales and gross margin together with cost savings from additional automation of the DC resulted in an underlying EBITDA 
of $13.6 million (excluding IPO related costs and changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares), a 125.1% 
improvement on the same period last year. During the period 8.2 million products were shipped to customers, up 27% on 
the same period last year. 

The loss for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $18,078,000 (30 June 2020: profit of $196,000) driven by 
the changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares of $18,597,000 (note 19) and $4,102,000 of IPO costs (note 19) 
(30 June 2020: $880,000 and $nil).D

FY21 KEY FINANCIAL METRICS FORECAST JUNE 21

Revenue growth (% increase) 23.4% 35.1%

Underlying EBITDA margin % (EBITDA/revenue) 4.6% 6.1%

Gross profit growth (% increase) 28.2% 36.2%

Gross profit ($ per unit shipped) $7.45 $7.42

Net freight cost ($ per unit shipped) $0.45 $0.48

Distribution centre wages ($ per unit shipped) $1.16 $1.42

Marketing expenses ($ per unit shipped) $1.70 $1.25

The EPS for the year was (14.20) cents, (FY20: 0.17 cents). Adjusted for the IPO costs of $2,871,000 (net of tax) and the 
change in the fair value of the redeemable preference shares ($18,597,000) the EPS is 2.66 cents, (FY20: 0.95 cents).

The Group’s balance sheet reflects the attractive cash flow profile of the business model where the majority of customers 
pay at the time of ordering, minimising any debtors; inventory as aligned to customer demand and trade creditors are 
according to accepted industry terms. Inventory levels remained largely consistent with the same period last year reflecting 
the increased throughput of the DC relative to the growth in revenue. Creditors and cash flow management also continue 
to support overall strength in working capital for the Group. 

Historical software development costs have been capitalised including costs relating to the development of new systems 
for new business divisions, continued development of additional functionality of in-house software systems used in 
managing the Distribution Centre and the development of new or enhanced processes within the DC to optimise 
customer experience. 

The directors consider that the Group will continue as a going concern, as explained in note 1 ‘working capital position’ 
section to the financial statements.

Financing
During the period the Group became a listed entity on the ASX raising $25,000,000 which was used to reduce debt and 
increase working capital in anticipation of more capital expenditure on further automation of the DC. Debt was reduced by 
the repayment of the Longreach Credit Investors borrowing balance of $12,000,000 and as part of the IPO the Redeemable 
Preference Shares were converted to ordinary shares. Overall debt of the Group was significantly reduced and the net 
equity of the business increased from a negative $3,086,000 to a positive $30,391,000. The Group has an unused $6,000,000 
overdraft and a new $12,000,000 facility with the CBA, which it secured in July 2021. The cash held by the business and the 
available facilities give the Group sufficient liquidity to fund future growth ambitions. 
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Underlying EBITDA
Underlying EBITDA is a financial measure which is not prescribed by the Australian Accounting Standards (‘AASBs’) and 
represents the statutory result adjusted for specific items, including the IPO costs and conversion of preference shares. 
The directors consider Underlying EBITDA to be one of the key financial measures of the Group.

The following table summarises key reconciling items between statutory loss after tax attributable to the shareholders of the 
Company and Underlying EBITDA: 

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(Loss)/profit before income tax (18,029) 830 

Less: Interest income (37) (33)

Add: Interest expense 4,374 2,441 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation 4,490 3,261 

Reported EBITDA (9,202) 6,499 

IPO costs 4,102 – 

IPO related employee share award 152 – 

Changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares 18,597 880 

Pro forma public company costs* – (1,315)

Underlying EBITDA 13,649 6,064

* The costs of operating a publicly listed company for a full year have been added to the 2020 results to reflect the Underlying EBITDA of the Group 
as if it had already been listed. This is done to enable like for like comparability between periods. The amount presented is consistent with the 
Prospectus document.

Business strategies and future growth
The retailing of physical and digital books in an online environment remains the core strategy of the Group with the focus 
of growing market share in Australia being the key short-term strategy. The Group considers that continued overall industry 
growth, a continued consumer shift towards buying books and other products online and its strong customer service focus 
will underpin the Group’s opportunity to grow its market share. The Group also believes there is significant opportunity to 
further consolidate the industry value chain in Australia and to use this model to enter new markets internationally.

To support this strategy, the Group has identified several initiatives to drive revenue and earnings growth including: 

Australian market share growth 
 • Affiliate marketing and retargeting of existing and new customers: the Group continues to use Search Engine 

Optimisation, pay per click advertising, affiliate marketing and retargeting of customers and potential customers as its 
principal form of selling. The Group is focused on investing in the look, feel and functionality of its websites to increase 
website visits and conversion rates even further. The Group also continues to evolve and enhance its eBook and 
audiobook offering to drive increased sales.

 • Continued expansion into education and corporate sales: the Group continues its expansion into education and 
corporate sales through targeted merchandising, website development and expanding its corporate and education sales 
team. The Group believes there is a substantial growth opportunity for it to increase sales in the pre-school, primary, 
secondary and tertiary sectors as well as across a range of corporate and government businesses.

 • Continued investment into the distribution centre: the Group plans to continue investing in distribution facilities. This 
investment aims to expand the current DC facilities and to leverage automation further across all current and future 
facilities (for example by adding more robotics and conveyor lines, packing machines and put away/picking technologies) 
to increase efficiency and reduce required man hours per unit shipped. It also aims to increase the capacity to hold more 
stock to enable faster delivery times and improving customer service.
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Partnerships and global expansion
 • Growth of partnerships and marketplaces: the Group plans to increase its partnerships’ leveraging its brand, customer 

databases and website traffic to allow it to sell wherever the Australian book buyer is shopping. The Group sells through 
a range of Australian online stores including Kogan, eBay, MyDeal, Zookal, Catch and Amazon and intends to increase 
sales through digital marketplaces locally and globally by expanding its range and presence on marketplaces that it 
currently partners with and continually seek and assess new marketplace partnerships. In addition, the Group will explore 
innovative partnerships with market participants, such as the Zookal arrangement, to further consolidate the book 
industry value chain. 

 • Bolt on acquisition opportunities: the Group will continue to seek further acquisitions of businesses in Australia and 
internationally which offer similar products to the Group and which may benefit from the application of the Group’s 
expertise and existing infrastructure and systems. The Group believes that its investment in its websites, its Content, 
Customer and Order Management System, its Warehouse Management System and its internet marketing expertise, 
could be applied to businesses operating locally and internationally. All acquisitions will continue to be considered 
based on their merits, the long-term revenue goals and most importantly their ability to contribute to the profits of 
the Group.

Customer experience 
 • Customer loyalty and subscription programs: the Group plans to continue to roll out various loyalty programs to reward 

and encourage repeat purchasing from its customers. Offers such as free shipping offers, gift vouchers and discounts will 
be available at the customer level through its website and various sales and marketing channels. The Group believes this 
will form an important aspect of its customer service offering and assist in increasing customer loyalty in the future. The 
Group currently partners with the Qantas Frequent Flyer (QFF) program. 

 • Leveraging customer database: the Group has access to a substantial amount of historical customer data. The Group 
does not sell or permit access to its customer data to any other organisation other than for transaction processing. 
Through analysis of this information, the Group intends to assemble focused information on customers and customer 
groups, to facilitate more relevant and targeted marketing.

Additional value chain consolidation 
 • Providing available inventory and/or competitive margins: Our BPS distribution business is focused on adding more 

publishers to its list that it represents as its core growth strategy. The Group views BPS as a unique growth opportunity. 
BPS provides an attractive value proposition to publishers and bookstores by providing available inventory or 
competitive margins. Booktopia Publishing is planning to publish over 100 new books in the FY22 year. This is forecast 
to continue to grow by at least 100 new books in future years. The Publishing division uses BPS to distribute its books to 
retailers and resellers across Australia and New Zealand.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
On 2 December 2020, Booktopia Group Limited (‘BKG’) was admitted to the Official List of ASX Limited (‘ASX’). Official 
quotation of BKG’s ordinary fully paid shares commenced on 3 December 2020. BKG raised $25,000,000 pursuant to the 
offer under its prospectus dated 2 November 2020 (‘Prospectus’) by the issue of 10,870,000 shares at an issue price of 
$2.30 per share.

Beyond the impact of COVID-19 and the activities associated with the admission of the Group to the ASX, there were no 
significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
The consequences of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic are continuing to be felt around the world, and its impact 
on the Group, if any, has been reflected in its published results to date. Whilst it would appear that control measures and 
related government policies have started to mitigate the risks caused by COVID-19, the recent Delta variant has resulted 
in further lockdowns in several States in Australia, particularly on the Eastern Seaboard, since the reporting date. It is not 
possible at this time to state how the pandemic will subsequently impact the Group’s operations going forward, especially 
if these lockdowns continue.

On 14 July 2021, the Group entered into a new finance facility with Commonwealth Bank. Under the term of this agreement 
the total agreed facilities to the Group increased from $7,247,000 to $19,247,000 (of which $18,000,000 is available).
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On 22 July 2021, the Group announced their partnership with an UK-based Welbeck Publishing Group (‘WPG’) to ramp up 
expansion in the growing ANZ market. Booktopia has entered into a non-binding agreement to secure a 25% stake in the 
London-based publisher’s new standalone Australian subsidiary (Welbeck ANZ). The deal is expected to be finalised by 
30 September 2021 and Welbeck ANZ is expected to be fully operational in January 2022. 

On 27 August 2021, the Group signed a lease agreement for an additional Distribution Centre to be based in Strathfield. 
The estimated value of the right-of-use asset balance and related lease liability balance arising from the execution of this 
contract are $14,353,000.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
Information relating to the likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations 
in future financial years is set out in the operating and financial review section above and elsewhere in this report.

Environmental regulation
The Group is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law.

Information on directors

Name: Christopher (Chris) Beare

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director – Chairman

Qualifications: BSc, BE (Hons) and PhD (Electrical) from Adelaide University, MBA from the Harvard Business 
School and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Experience and 
expertise:

Chris Beare joined the Booktopia Board as Chairman in October 2016. He has over 35 years’ 
experience in international business, technology, strategy, finance and management.

Chris joined investment bank Hambros Australia in 1991, became Head of Corporate Finance in 
1994 and joint Chief Executive in 1995. After Hambros was acquired by Societe Generale (‘SG’) in 
1998 Chris remained a Director of SG Australia until 2002. Prior to Hambros, Chris was Executive 
Director of Melbourne based Venture Capital firm Advent Management Group which he joined in 
1987 after various roles in Telecom Australia culminating in the Head of Strategy.

Chris has experience in technology. In 1998 he helped form Radiata, a technology start-up in Sydney 
and Silicon Valley, and as Chair and Chief Executive Officer steered it to a sale to Cisco Systems in 
2001. He has been a Director of a number of other technology companies and was formerly the 
Chairman of ASX listed businesses; DEXUS Property Group, Flexigroup Limited and m.Net. 

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships  
(last 3 years):

None

Special 
responsibilities:

Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Interests in shares: 400,000 ordinary shares 

Interests in rights: None
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Name: Antony (Tony) Nash

Title: Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director 

Qualifications: Computer programming at Control Data Institute.

Experience and 
expertise:

Tony Nash was involved in the establishment of Booktopia while working in his family’s company as a 
sideline to the core internet marketing consulting business, Globalise Pty Ltd, which was established 
in 2001. Tony has been instrumental in growing Booktopia and formulating its business strategy 
throughout that time. Since 2007 Tony has held the role of Chief Executive Officer.

Tony received a series of business awards and is an industry-recognised leader in the book retail 
and online retailing industry in Australia. In 2018 he won the Industry Recognition Award at the 
Online Retailer Industry Awards. He was listed in Who’s Who of Australia in 2019.

Prior to Booktopia, in 1996 Tony established Best People International (an internet recruitment 
agency), having previously worked as a recruiter. Best People grew to employ more than 35 people. 
It was ultimately sold to Volante Group Limited, which was ASX listed at the time of the sale.

Tony is a Life Member of the Wilderness Society, the RSPCA (NSW) and the Australian Republican 
Movement.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships  
(last 3 years):

None

Special 
responsibilities:

None

Interests in shares: 22,839,343 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: 37,217 unvested and 9,305 vested performance rights over ordinary shares

Name: Wayne Baskin

Title: Deputy CEO, Chief Technology Officer, Executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor of Engineering (Software) (Hon), UNSW.

Experience and 
expertise:

Wayne Baskin started as Booktopia’s first developer in 2008, having spent 4 years at GE 
Commercial Finance. In his first five years he built the company’s bespoke website, their custom 
Warehouse Management System and was responsible for the implementation of the business’ 
pricing and inventory algorithms.

Today in his position as Deputy CEO, Wayne is responsible for the overall business strategy, vision 
and customer experience while also overseeing logistics and the businesses pricing and inventory 
strategy.

In his role as Chief Technology Officer, Wayne oversees all R&D for both Booktopia and Angus 
& Robertson which includes all system development and the business’ integrations into external 
systems and third-party channels.

In 2017 and 2018, Wayne was a finalist for the Online Retail Industry Recognition Award, taking 
out the award in 2019. He has also been named in Inside Retail’s Top 50 People in e-commerce for 
five years, in 2019 and 2020 being awarded Number 8 on the list, as well as being a finalist for the 
BRW’s Best Rising Star Award.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships  
(last 3 years):

None

Special 
responsibilities:

None

Interests in shares: 5,000,000 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: 37,217 unvested and 9,305 vested performance rights over ordinary shares
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Name: Steven Traurig

Title: Chief Commercial Officer and Executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor of Applied Science (Computing), sub-majoring in Organisations and Management from 
University of Technology, Sydney.

Experience and 
expertise:

Steven Traurig was involved in the establishment of Booktopia. He began his career at IBM 
Australia as a software engineer and subsequently pre-sales systems engineer, before joining 
Somerset Systems in 1992 specialising in business development and consulting in e-commerce 
and workflow. He joined Tony Nash in his online recruitment company Best People International in 
1998. Tony and Steven have been in business together for 22 years. Steven has been in the online 
commerce industry for over 20 years and is Tony’s brother-in-law.

Steven provided technical direction and services during Booktopia’s early formation and built a 
development team to establish Booktopia’s in-house website and logistics systems in 2007. He has 
been the Chief Information Officer and is currently Chief Commercial Officer for Booktopia, as well 
as overseeing a number of business programs including infrastructure, security and HR. 

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships  
(last 3 years):

None

Special 
responsibilities:

None

Interests in shares: 20,691,877 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: 18,797 unvested and 4,699 vested performance rights over ordinary shares

Name: Fiona Pak-Poy

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: Honours Degree in Engineering from the University of Adelaide and an MBA from Harvard 
Business School. She is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Experience and 
expertise:

Fiona is an experienced non-executive director and has been involved in a wide array of industries 
including healthcare, e-commerce, software, financial services, retail and manufacturing. 
Her involvement ranges from start-ups to publicly listed companies, not-for-profits and State 
and Federal Government Boards.

Currently Fiona is a non-executive director of Tyro, iSentia and the Sydney School of 
Entrepreneurship.

She is a former member of the Federal Government’s Innovation Australia Board, ASIC’s director 
Advisory Panel and a Councillor for The Australian Investment Council. She practiced as an 
engineer and was a management consultant with The Boston Consulting Group in Boston and 
Sydney, during which time she was a member of both the Consumer Goods and Technology and 
Financial Services Practice Group. She co-founded an e-commerce start-up in the late 1990s and 
subsequently worked as a General Partner in an Australian/US venture capital fund that invested in 
Australian start-ups with unique IP.

Other current 
directorships:

Non-Executive director of Tyro Payments Ltd (ASX: TYR), iSentia Group (ASX: ISD)

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

Director of MYOB (formerly ASX: MYO) prior to its purchase by KKR

Special 
responsibilities:

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares: 21,738 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None
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Name: Marina Go

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor of Arts from Macquarie University, Master of Business Administration from the University 
of New South Wales, a member of O’Connell Street Associates, the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, Chief Executive Women and the University of New South Wales Business 
Advisory Council.

Experience and 
expertise:

Marina has over 30 years of experience as a multi-media executive across a range of listed and 
private companies and as an independent non-executive director across a diverse range of 
industries including retail, e-commerce, health, energy and sport.

Marina is Chair of Netball Australia, Ovarian Cancer Australia and The Walkley Foundation, 
and is a non-executive director on the boards of Energy Australia and 7-Eleven.

Other current 
directorships:

Autosports Group (ASX: ASG), Adore Beauty (ASX: ABY) and Pro-Pac Packaging (ASX: PPG)

Former directorships 
 (last 3 years):

None

Special 
responsibilities:

Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Interests in shares: 8,695 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

Name: Su-Ming Wong

Title: Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: ME MBA 

Experience and 
expertise:

Su-Ming has over 35 years of direct investment and corporate advisory experience. In 2001, 
he co-founded CHAMP Ventures which is an Australian mid-market private equity funds manager. 
Su-Ming is Non-Executive Director of Booktopia Group Limited and has been chairman/director 
of over 20 Australian companies operating across retail, technology, manufacturing, financial 
services, healthcare and tourism sectors. Su-Ming is a Professor of Practice at UNSW, a director 
of Sydney Writers’ Festival and a member of UNSW Business School Advisory Council. He was a 
member of the Council of University of Technology Sydney and a director of several other NGOs. 
A Fellow of the AICD, Su-Ming holds a ME from the University of Canterbury, NZ and a MBA from 
AGSM, UNSW.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships  
(last 3 years):

None

Special 
responsibilities:

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Interests in shares: 6,707,472 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships of all 
other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.
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Company secretaries
Anna Sandham – Joint Company Secretary
Anna Sandham was appointed Booktopia’s Company Secretary on 1 December 2020. Anna is a Senior Company Secretary 
at Company Matters, Link Group’s governance and company secretarial team and has over two decades of experience 
as a company secretary and governance professional. Anna holds a Bachelor of Economics degree (University of Sydney) 
and a Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance (Governance Institute of Australia). Anna is a Fellow of the 
Governance Institute of Australia and a member of its Legislative Review Committee.

Steven Traurig – Joint Company Secretary
Steven has held the role of Company Secretary since 16 May 2016. See ‘Information on directors’ above for further 
information.

Meetings of directors
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) and of each Board committee held during the 
year ended 30 June 2021, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

FULL BOARD
AUDIT AND RISK 

COMMITTEE
REMUNERATION AND 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
ATTENDED HELD ATTENDED HELD ATTENDED HELD

Christopher (Chris) Beare  
– Chairman

10 10 3 3 2 2

Antony (Tony) Nash 10 10 – – – –

Wayne Baskin 8 8 – – – –

Steven Traurig 10 10 – – – –

Fiona Pak-Poy 8 8 3 3 – –

Marina Go 8 8 – – 2 2

Su-Ming Wong 10 10 3 3 2 2

Simon Nash 3 5 – – – –

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant 
committee.

Remuneration report (audited)
The remuneration report details the Key Management Personnel (‘KMP’) remuneration arrangements for the Group, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.

KMP are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
directly or indirectly, including all directors.

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

 • Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

 • Details of remuneration

 • Service agreements

 • Share-based compensation

 • Additional disclosures relating to KMP

 • Changes to the remuneration framework for 2021/2022
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Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
Booktopia became a listed company on the ASX on 2 December 2020. In preparation for the listing the Group took advice 
and re-structured its remuneration framework to be more aligned with listed company norms. The restructured framework 
was outlined in the prospectus, introduced on 1 January 2021, and is reported in this report. The objective of the Group’s 
executive remuneration framework is to ensure remuneration is market competitive and aligned to shareholder value.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements 
for its directors and executives. The performance of the Group depends on the quality of its directors and executives. The 
remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high quality personnel.

For the 6 months to 30 June 2021 the new remuneration framework was only applied to the KMP and as foreshadowed in 
the prospectus the Board has now examined how the framework can be rolled out further into the Group (see below).

Executive remuneration
The Group has chosen to reward executives using a level and mix of remuneration which has both fixed and variable 
components.

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:

 • base pay and non-monetary benefits;

 • cash-based Short-Term Incentive (‘STI’) performance payments;

 • share-based Long-Term Incentive (‘LTI’) payments; and

 • other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave.

The combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of 
the Group and comparable market remuneration.

Executives may receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits where it does not create any 
additional costs to the Group and provides additional value to the executive.

The STI program is designed to align the performance hurdles of the executives with the targets of the business. STI 
payments are based on specific annual targets and Key Performance Indicators (‘KPI’s’) being achieved. As this was the first 
six months as a listed entity to 30 June 2021 the KPIs were set as team KPI’s and were heavily focused towards meeting the 
prospectus forecast, and as such the EBITDA and Revenue KPIs were gateway hurdles for the plan. Each KMP has a target 
payment set as a percentage of salary. STI payments are made in cash once the KPI’s are measured.

The LTI program is designed to reward sustainable long term performance and align executives to shareholder outcomes 
whilst allowing the Company to attract and retain the best talent. It uses Performance Rights (‘PR’) issued under the Group’s 
Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTI Plan’). A PR entitles the participant to acquire a share on vesting at nil exercise price, subject 
to the satisfaction of vesting conditions. The PR will be automatically exercised and no exercise price is payable.

To satisfy PR vesting the Group has established an externally administered trust structure that buys Booktopia shares on 
market during trading windows that can then be transferred to executives once any PR vests.

The Board has determined to use PR because they create share price alignment between executives and shareholders but 
do not provide the executives with the full benefits of share ownership (such as dividend and voting rights) unless and until 
the PR vest and are exercised.

The Performance Rights are measured as follows:

A: 50% of the rights will be tested against the Company’s shareholder return (‘TSR’) relative to a comparator group over the 
performance period (‘TSR rights’). 

B: 50% of the rights will be tested against the absolute earnings per share (‘EPS’) compound annual growth rate (‘CAGR’) 
over the relevant performance period (‘EPS rights’).

These rights would normally vest over three years, but as this is a new plan for the Group the PR are divided into three equal 
tranches tested over three different performance periods as follows:

– Tranche 1: performance tested from 1 January 2021 – 30 June 2021

– Tranche 2: performance tested from 1 January 2021 – 30 June 2022

– Tranche 3: performance tested from 1 January 2021 – 30 June 2023
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Group performance and link to remuneration
Executive remuneration is directly linked to the performance of the Group. A portion of the performance rights will vest on 
achieving predefined TSR percentile scores and a further portion on achievement of EPS CAGR. The remaining portion of the 
cash bonus and incentive payments (STI) are dependent on the achievement of seven predefined KPI’s. The Financial KPI’s 
are in relation to meeting Revenue and EBITDA targets and represent up to 70% of the opportunity. The remaining five KPI’s 
are non-financial and include measures of customer satisfaction, employee retention and delivery of automation projects.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is of the opinion that the adoption of performance based compensation will 
contribute to future improvements in performance and will increase shareholder wealth over the coming years.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. Non-executive 
directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee may, from time to time, receive advice from independent remuneration consultants to ensure 
non-executive directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The chairman’s fees are determined 
independently to the fees of other non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market. The 
chairman is not present at any discussions relating to the determination of his own remuneration. Non-executive directors 
do not receive share options or other incentives.

ASX listing rules require the aggregate non-executive directors’ remuneration be determined periodically by a general 
meeting. As set out in the IPO Prospectus, a maximum annual aggregate remuneration available to non-executive directors 
was set at $700,000. For FY2021, the fees payable to non-executive directors will not exceed $410,000 in aggregate.

Use of remuneration consultants
During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group, through the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, engaged 
Mercer Consulting, remuneration consultants, to advise on the implementation of remuneration policies and provide 
recommendations on how to structure the STI and LTI programs. Mercer Consulting was paid $25,000 for these services.

An agreed set of protocols were put in place to ensure that the remuneration recommendations would be free from 
undue influence from KMP. These protocols include requiring that the consultant not communicate with affected KMP 
without a member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee being present, and that the consultant not provide 
any information relating to the outcome of the engagement with the affected KMP. The Board is also required to make 
inquiries of the consultant’s processes at the conclusion of the engagement to ensure that they are satisfied that any 
recommendations made have been free from undue influence. The Board is satisfied that these protocols were followed 
and as such there was no undue influence.

Details of remuneration
Prior to the ASX listing on 2 December 2020, Booktopia Group Limited was not required to prepare a Remuneration report 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. As such, Remuneration report information is presented only for 2021.

The Board has deemed the following are or were KMP during the year:

The Non-Executive Directors of Booktopia Group Limited: 

 • Chris Beare (Chairman)

 • Fiona Pak-Poy

 • Marina Go

 • Su-Ming Wong

The Executive Directors of Booktopia Group Limited:

 • Tony Nash – CEO and Managing Director

 • Wayne Baskin – Deputy CEO, Chief Technology Officer and Executive Director

 • Steve Traurig – Chief Commercial Officer and Executive Director

 • Simon Nash – Executive Director (resigned 30 October 2020)
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And the following persons:

 • Geoff Stalley – Chief Financial Officer (appointed on 14 October 2020)

 • Ainsley Henderson – Chief Financial Officer (Ainsley tendered his notice of retirement on 8 October 2020, effective from 
29 January 2021. From 8 October 2020 onwards he surrendered all authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group, turning his attention to ensuring an orderly departure from the business and 
smooth handover to his successor).

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of KMP of the Group are set out in the following tables.

SHORT-TERM BENEFITS

POST- 
EMPLOY-

MENT  
BENEFITS

LONG-
TERM 

BENEFITS

SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENTS

2021

CASH 
SALARY

AND FEES
$

CASH
BONUS*

$

NON-
MONETARY**

$

SUPER-
ANNUATION

$

LONG 
SERVICE

LEAVE
$

EQUITY-
SETTLED***

$
TOTAL

$

Non-Executive 
Directors:

Chris Beare-
Chairman

111,121 – – 10,581 – – 121,702

Fiona Pak-Poy1 67,853 – – 6,464 – – 74,317

Marina Go1 59,712 – – 5,688 – – 65,400

Su-Ming Wong 55,309 – – 5,269 – – 60,578

Executive 
Directors:

Tony Nash 443,608 100,935 57,431 25,095 29,623 63,169 719,861

Wayne Baskin1 440,753 100,935 45,751 23,395 25,432 63,169 699,435

Steven Traurig 295,621 68,837 35,369 25,035 19,320 31,903 476,085

Simon Nash2 290,327 – 4,665 13,493 1,011 – 309,496

Other KMP:

Geoff Stalley 246,937 79,536 23,003 25,440 234 37,221 412,371

Ainsley 
Henderson3 241,811 – 18,185 18,428 3,940 – 282,364

2,253,052 350,243 184,404 158,888 79,560 195,462 3,221,609

* Bonus was accrued based on the performance criteria as described in each executive director’s service agreement below.

** Non-monetary benefits represents the net annual leave accrued by the individual.

*** In accordance with the requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards, remuneration includes a proportion of the fair value of PR granted or 
outstanding during the year. The fair value of equity instruments which do not vest during the reporting period is determined as at the grant date 
and is progressively allocated over the vesting period. The amount included as remuneration is not related to or indicative of the benefit (if any) 
that individual KMP may ultimately realise should the equity instruments vest. In particular, vesting conditions for tranche A1 were not achieved and 
those rights are therefore forfeited, while tranche B1 has vested and the rights will be exercised.

1 Represents remuneration from the date of appointment.

2 Represents remuneration to date of resignation on 30 October 2020. Included in Simon’s cash salary and fees is a termination payment of $115,413.

3 Represents remuneration from 1 July 2020 to 29 January 2021.
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STI achieved and forfeited
The maximum STI payable to each program participant was defined in the Prospectus. The table below presents the 
maximum that was payable at the Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s discretion as well as the proportion that was 
effectively forfeited:

MAXIMUM 
PAYABLE  

$

PERCENTAGE 
FORFEITED*  

% 

Tony Nash 225,000 55% 

Wayne Baskin 225,000 55% 

Steven Traurig 75,000 11% 

Geoff Stalley 87,500 11%

* The percentages forfeited are calculated based on the maximum STI opportunities presented in the Prospectus and the proportion of that not 
paid. Both figures exclude on-costs, while the figures presented in the remuneration table are inclusive of the on-costs.

Proportion of fixed and at risk revenue
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are 100% fixed.

The proportion of remuneration linked to achieving targeted performance and the fixed proportion of Executive Directors 
and other KMP are as follows:

NAME

FIXED  
REMUNERATION

2021

AT RISK  
– STI
2021

AT RISK 
 – LTI
2021

Executive Directors:

Tony Nash 64% 29% 7% 

Wayne Baskin 63% 30% 7% 

Steven Traurig 76% 18% 6% 

Simon Nash 100% – –

Other KMP:

Geoff Stalley 68% 23% 9% 

Ainsley Henderson 100% – –

The At risk – STI percentage reflects the maximum opportunity as a proportion of the total available remuneration. The 
proportions presented above differ from those proposed in the prospectus because the STI and LTI programs were only 
effective for part of the year, and the LTI proportion reflects the current year’s accounting value for the performance rights 
granted, excluding the deferred costs for the tranches vesting 30 June 2022, and 30 June 2023.
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Service agreements
Remuneration and other terms of employment for KMP are formalised in service agreements. Details of these agreements 
are as follows:

Name: Chris Beare

Title: Independent, Non-executive Chairman

Agreement 
commenced:

6 October 2017 (with additional terms effective from 27 October 2020)

Term of agreement: NED’s term subject to shareholder vote at each AGM

Details: Chris is entitled to receive a remuneration package of $140,000 including superannuation.

Name: Tony Nash

Title: CEO and Managing Director

Agreement 
commenced:

23 October 2020

Term of agreement: 2 years – refer below

Details: Tony is entitled to receive a remuneration package including superannuation of $492,750 per 
annum and a cash bonus under Booktopia Group’s STI Plan. The maximum STI opportunity as 
prescribed in the prospectus was $225,000, achievable where the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee consider KPIs to have been significantly over achieved. 

The Company will pay a performance payment of $1,500,000 in tranches over a period of up to four 
years commencing in FY22 for the over achievement of the respective annual budgeted EBITDA 
over those years as approved by the Board.

The amount paid in each tranche will be at the discretion of the Board and will only be paid upon 
achievement of the hurdles and subject to Company profitability and cash capacity.

Tony is also eligible to participate in Booktopia Group’s LTI Plan. For FY2021, the Company 
issued $148,500 of Performance Rights, being 33% of fixed annual remuneration (excluding 
superannuation).

Tony’s contract has an initial fixed 2 year term, with a current expiry date of 23 October 2022, during 
which time only the Company can terminate with 6 months’ notice. His contract will continue 
beyond the initial term, and will be terminable by either Tony or the Company on 6 months’ notice. 
However, no notice is required for termination of employment in certain circumstances, including 
serious misconduct. A 12 month restraint applies following termination. The enforceability of the 
restraint clause is subject to all usual legal requirements. Any payments made on termination 
will be subject to the termination benefits cap under the Corporations Act in the absence of 
shareholder approval.
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Name: Wayne Baskin

Title: Deputy CEO, Chief Technology Officer and Executive Director

Agreement 
commenced:

23 October 2020

Term of agreement: 2 years – refer below

Details: Wayne is entitled to receive a remuneration package including superannuation and other benefits 
of $492,750 and a cash bonus under Booktopia Group’s STI Plan. The maximum STI opportunity as 
prescribed in the prospectus was $225,000, achievable where the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee consider KPIs to have been significantly over achieved.

Wayne is also eligible to participate in Booktopia Group’s LTI Plan. For FY2021, the Company 
issued $148,500 of Performance Rights, being 33% of fixed annual remuneration (excluding 
superannuation).

Wayne’s contract has an initial fixed 2 year term, with a current expiry date of 23 October 2022, 
during which time only the Company can terminate with 6 months’ notice. His contract will continue 
beyond the initial term, and will be terminable by either Wayne or the Company on 6 months’ 
notice. However, no notice is required for termination of employment in certain circumstances, 
including serious misconduct. A 12 month restraint applies following termination. The enforceability 
of the restraint clause is subject to all usual legal requirements. Any payments made on termination 
will be subject to the termination benefits cap under the Corporations Act in the absence of 
shareholder approval.

Name: Steven Traurig

Title: Chief Commercial Officer and Executive Director

Agreement 
commenced:

14 October 2020

Term of agreement: 2 years – refer below

Details: Steve is entitled to receive a remuneration package including superannuation of $328,500 per 
annum and a cash bonus under Booktopia Group’s STI Plan. The maximum STI opportunity as 
prescribed in the prospectus was $75,000, achievable where the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee consider KPIs to have been significantly over achieved.

Steve is also eligible to participate in Booktopia Group’s LTI Plan. For FY2021, the Company issued 
$75,000 of Performance Rights, being 25% of fixed annual remuneration (excluding superannuation).

Steven’s contract has an initial fixed 2 year term, with a current expiry date of 14 October 2022, 
during which time only the Company can terminate with 6 months’ notice. His contract will continue 
beyond the initial term, and will be terminable by either Steven or the Company on 6 months’ 
notice. However, no notice is required for termination of employment in certain circumstances, 
including serious misconduct. A 12 month restraint applies following termination. The enforceability 
of the restraint clause is subject to all usual legal requirements. Any payments made on termination 
will be subject to the termination benefits cap under the Corporations Act in the absence of 
shareholder approval.

Name: Fiona Pak-Poy

Title: Independent Non-executive Director

Agreement 
commenced:

15 September 2020

Term of agreement: NED’s term subject to shareholder vote at each AGM

Details: Fiona is entitled to receive director fees of $85,000 and fees for chairing the Audit and Risk 
Committee of $15,000. Both are inclusive of superannuation. 
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Name: Marina Go

Title: Independent Non-executive Director

Agreement 
commenced:

1 October 2020

Term of agreement: NED’s term subject to shareholder vote at each AGM

Details: Marina is entitled to receive fees of $85,000 per annum, including superannuation.

Name: Su-Ming Wong

Title: Independent Non-executive Director

Agreement 
commenced:

28 January 2020 (with additional terms effective from 27 October 2020)

Term of agreement: NED’s term subject to shareholder vote at each AGM

Details: Su-Ming is entitled to receive fees of $85,000 per annum, including superannuation.

Name: Geoff Stalley

Title: Chief Financial Officer

Agreement 
commenced:

14 October 2020

Term of agreement: 2 years – refer below

Details: Geoff is entitled to receive a remuneration package including superannuation and other benefits 
of $383,250 and a cash bonus under Booktopia Group’s STI Plan. The maximum STI opportunity 
as prescribed in the prospectus was $87,500, achievable where the Remuneration Nomination 
Committee consider KPIs to have been significantly over achieved.

Geoff is also eligible to participate in Booktopia Group’s LTI Plan. For FY2021, the Company 
issued $87,500 of Performance Rights, being 25% of fixed annual remuneration (excluding 
superannuation).

Geoff’s contract has an initial fixed 2 year term, with a current expiry date of 14 October 2022, 
during which time only the Company can terminate with 6 months’ notice. His contract will continue 
beyond the initial term, and will be terminable by either Geoff or the Company on 6 months’ 
notice. However, no notice is required for termination of employment in certain circumstances, 
including serious misconduct. A 12 month restraint applies following termination. The enforceability 
of the restraint clause is subject to all usual legal requirements. Any payments made on termination 
will be subject to the termination benefits cap under the Corporations Act in the absence of 
shareholder approval.

KMP have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct.

Share-based compensation

Issue of shares
There were no shares issued to directors and other KMP as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2021.

Options and performance rights
There were no options issued or in issue during the period other than the performance rights described below.

Under the Group’s LTI Plan, as described in the ‘Executive remuneration’ section above, the following performance rights 
were granted to KMP in the current financial year.
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NAME TRANCHE

NUMBER 
OF RIGHTS 
GRANTED

GRANT 
DATE 

VESTING/ 
EXERCIS-

ABLE DATE
EXPIRY 

DATE

PERFOR-
MANCE 

CONDITION

FAIR VALUE 
PER RIGHT 

GRANT 
DATE

TOTAL  
VALUE  

$

Tony Nash A1 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 TSR $1.410 13,119

A2 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 TSR $1.619 15,064

A3 9,304 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 TSR $1.735 16,143

B1 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 24,378

B2 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 24,378

B3 9,303 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 24,378

Total 55,827 117,460

Wayne Baskin A1 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 TSR $1.410 13,119

A2 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 TSR $1.619 15,064

A3 9,304 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 TSR $1.735 16,143

B1 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 24,378

B2 9,305 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 24,378

B3 9,303 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 24,378

Total 55,827 117,460

Steven Traurig A1 4,699 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 TSR $1.410 6,626

A2 4,699 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 TSR $1.619 7,608

A3 4,700 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 TSR $1.735 8,153

B1 4,699 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 12,312

B2 4,699 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 12,312

B3 4,699 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 12,312

Total 28,195 59,323

Geoff Stalley A1 5,482 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 TSR $1.410 7,730

A2 5,482 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 TSR $1.619 8,876

A3 5,483 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 TSR $1.735 9,512

B1 5,482 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 14,364

B2 5,482 31/12/2020 30/06/2022 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 14,364

B3 5,483 31/12/2020 30/06/2023 04/01/2026 EPS $2.620 14,362

Total 32,894 69,208

Total 172,743 363,451

booktopia

40

directors’  report continued



VALUE OF  
PR GRANTED 
DURING THE 

YEAR  
$

VALUE OF  
PR VESTED 

DURING THE 
YEAR  

$

VALUE OF  
PR LAPSED 

DURING THE 
YEAR  

$

REMUNERA-
TION  

CONSISTING 
OF PR DURING 

THE YEAR
 %

Tony Nash 117,460 24,378 13,119 9% 

Wayne Baskin 117,460 24,378 13,119 9% 

Steven Traurig 59,323 12,312 6,626 7% 

Geoff Stalley 69,208 14,364 7,730 9% 

Total 363,451 75,432 40,594

Additional disclosures relating to KMP
Shareholding
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of KMP of the 
Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

BALANCE AT 
THE START OF 

THE YEAR

RECEIVED AS 
PART OF RE-

MUNERATION ADDITIONS DISPOSALS

BALANCE AT 
THE END OF 

THE YEAR

Fully paid ordinary shares

Non-executive Directors

Chris Beare – – 400,000 – 400,000

Fiona Pak-Poy – – 21,738 – 21,738

Marina Go – – 8,695 – 8,695

Su-Ming Wong – – 6,707,472 – 6,707,472

Executive Directors

Tony Nash 32,266,501 – – (9,427,158) 22,839,343

Wayne Baskin 7,959,050 – – (2,959,050) 5,000,000

Steve Traurig 32,266,500 – – (11,574,623) 20,691,877

Simon Nash 20,266,501 – – (5,292,180) 14,974,321

Other KMP

Geoff Stalley – – 32,608 – 32,608

Ainsley Henderson 2,903,985 – – (435,598) 2,468,387

95,662,537 – 7,170,513 (29,688,609) 73,144,441
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Performance rights holding
The number of performance rights over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and 
other members of KMP of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

BALANCE AT 
THE START OF 

THE YEAR GRANTED VESTED
EXPIRED/ 

FORFEITED

BALANCE AT 
THE END OF 

THE YEAR

Performance rights over 
ordinary shares

Executive Directors

Tony Nash – 55,827 (9,305) (9,305) 37,217

Wayne Baskin – 55,827 (9,305) (9,305) 37,217

Steve Traurig – 28,195 (4,699) (4,699) 18,797

Other KMP

Geoff Stalley – 32,894 (5,482) (5,482) 21,930

– 172,743 (28,791) (28,791) 115,161

No loans will be made by the Company to the executives in relation to the issue of PR.

Loans to KMP and their related parties
There are no loans to KMP and their related parties at year for any other concept.

Other transactions with KMP and their related parties
Close family members of KMP (who meet the definition of related parties) employed by the business on an arm’s length 
basis received remuneration for their services of $184,143 (2020: $168,169).

Changes to the remuneration framework for 2021/2022
For the year ended 30 June 2021 the STI and LTI plans only applied to KMP. In the prospectus, the Group foreshadowed 
that it would examine rolling out these plans to a wider group of executives. As part of examining how to do this, the STI 
and LTI plans were reviewed.

For 2021/2022, the Group has decided to modify the STI plan to include the next level of management. The new plan will 
be structured more as an excess profit share plan than a traditional STI plan and therefore payments will only be made 
under that plan if financial budgets are well exceeded. The plan is capped and is not open-ended. The plan has gateways 
that must be met before any payments are made and these gateways include cultural as well as financial triggers. Team 
based KPIs will still affect payments from the plan and those KPIs will still include financial, customer, people and culture 
elements. Payments will still be made as cash bonuses but any high payments of STI will also include deferred payments.

Base salaries for the KMP have also been adjusted to reflect market rates for the KMP executives and to compensate for the 
potential impact from future STI plans.

More details of the overall plan will be provided in next year’s remuneration report but it will mean that total remuneration 
as reported in this report will not be directly comparable to next year.

There will be no change to the LTI plan but more employees will be eligible to be part of the plan. The Performance Right 
measures of TSR and EPS growth will be retained but there will be no introductory tranches, just straight three year vesting. 
For the existing KMP the transitional vesting plan will be retained and the PR grants this year will vest in two tranches over 
two years and three years.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.
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Shares under option
There were no unissued ordinary shares of Booktopia Group Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report.

Shares under performance rights
Unissued ordinary shares of Booktopia Group Limited under performance rights at the date of this report are as follows:

GRANT DATE
NUMBER 

UNDER RIGHTS

31 December 2020 172,743

No person entitled to exercise the performance rights had or has any right by virtue of the performance right to participate 
in any share issue of the Company or of any other body corporate.

Shares issued on the exercise of options
There were no ordinary shares of Booktopia Group Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 
30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report.

Indemnity and insurance of officers
The Company has indemnified the directors and officers of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director or 
executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of 
the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the 
auditor are outlined in note 24 to the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

 • all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity 
of the auditor; and

 • none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) issued by the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-
making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.
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Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors’ report.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Christopher (Chris) Beare
Chairman

30 August 2021
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auditor’s independence declaration
 

 
  
PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY  NSW  2001 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 
Level 11, 1PSQ, 169 Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW 2150, PO Box 1155 Parramatta NSW 2124 
T: +61 2 9659 2476, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

23 
  

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
As lead auditor for the audit of Booktopia Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare 
that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Booktopia Group Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
period.  

  

Shannon Maher Sydney 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
  

     30 August 2021 
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financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021
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General information
The financial statements cover Booktopia Group Limited as a Group consisting of Booktopia Group Limited and the 
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which 
is Booktopia Group Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

On 2 December 2020, Booktopia Group Limited (‘BKG’) was admitted to the Official List of ASX Limited (‘ASX’).

Booktopia Group Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Unit E1
3-29 Birnie Avenue
Lidcombe NSW 2141

A description of the nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are included in the directors’ report, which 
is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 30 August 2021. 
The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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NOTE
2021
$’000

2020 
$’000

Revenue 4 223,886 165,678 

Other income – 17 

Interest income 37 33 

Expenses

Product and freight costs (162,752) (121,774)

Employee benefits expense 5 (28,622) (20,343)

Advertising and marketing expense (10,224) (9,850)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 5 (4,490) (3,261)

Merchant fees (3,161) (2,430)

IT and communication expense (1,694) (1,447)

Occupancy expense (1,022) (983)

IPO costs 19 (4,102) – 

Changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares 19 (18,597) (880)

Other expenses (2,914) (1,489)

Finance costs 5 (4,374) (2,441)

(Loss)/profit before income tax expense (18,029) 830 

Income tax expense 6 (49) (634)

(Loss)/profit after income tax expense for the year attributable to the 
owners of Booktopia Group Limited (18,078) 196 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of 
Booktopia Group Limited (18,078) 196 

CENTS CENTS

Basic earnings per share 31 (14.20) 0.17

Diluted earnings per share 31 (14.20) 0.17

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction  
with the accompanying notes.

consolidated statement of profit or loss  
and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2021
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consolidated balance sheet
as at 30 June 2021

NOTE
2021
$’000

2020 
$’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 12,037 11,039 

Trade and other receivables 8 1,280 627 

Inventories 9 18,111 12,176 

Income tax recoverable 211 – 

Prepayments 1,208 1,422 

Total current assets 32,847 25,264 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 21,647 14,074 

Right-of-use assets 11 9,571 9,708 

Intangibles 12 9,389 8,030 

Deferred tax asset 6 2,065 796 

Loans to shareholders 26 – 1,010 

Security deposits 1,416 1,166 

Total non-current assets 44,088 34,784 

Total assets 76,935 60,048 

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 20,314 20,656 

Contract liabilities 14 11,384 7,725 

Borrowings 15 – 6,400 

Lease liabilities 16 584 516 

Derivative financial instruments 17 – 2,480 

Income tax payable – 97 

Provisions 18 2,016 1,645 

Total current liabilities 34,298 39,519 

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 15 – 11,352 

Lease liabilities 16 10,918 11,618 

Provisions 18 1,328 645 

Total non-current liabilities 12,246 23,615 

Total liabilities 46,544 63,134 

Net assets/(liabilities) 30,391 (3,086)
Equity
Issued capital 19 51,671 311 

Share-based payments reserve 32 195 – 

Accumulated losses (21,475) (3,397)

Total shareholders’ equity 30,391 (3,086)

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2021

ISSUED
CAPITAL

$’000

SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENTS 

RESERVE
$’000

ACCUMULATED
LOSSES

$’000
TOTAL EQUITY

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 311 – (3,593) (3,282)

Profit after income tax expense for the year – – 196 196

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of tax

– – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 196 196

Balance at 30 June 2020 311 – (3,397) (3,086)

ISSUED
CAPITAL

$’000

SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENTS 

RESERVE
$’000

ACCUMULATED
LOSSES

$’000
TOTAL EQUITY

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2020 311 – (3,397) (3,086)

Loss after income tax expense for the year – – (18,078) (18,078)

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of tax

– – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – (18,078) (18,078)

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of capitalised  
IPO costs (note 19)

51,799 – – 51,799

Share-based payments (note 32) – 195 – 195

Treasury shares acquired on-market (note 19) (439) – – (439)

Balance at 30 June 2021 51,671 195 (21,475) 30,391

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2021

NOTE
2021
$’000

2020
RESTATED* 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 249,571 187,058 

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST) (242,476) (178,067)

7,095 8,991 

Income taxes paid (527) (355)

Net cash from operating activities 29 6,568 8,636 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment 10 (8,909) (10,014)

Payments for intangibles 12 (3,017) (3,830)

Payments for security deposits (250) 5 

Interest received 37 33 

Net cash used in investing activities (12,139) (13,806)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 19 25,000 – 

Payment of IPO costs 19 (3,856) – 

Treasury shares acquired 19 (439) – 

Proceeds from shareholders loans 26 1,010 – 

Proceeds from borrowings – 20,000 

Repayment of borrowings – Longreach Credit Investors 15 (12,000) – 

Repayment of borrowings – Commonwealth Bank – (1,391)

Lease principal repayments (648) (490)

Interest and other finance costs paid (2,498) (2,733)

Net cash from financing activities 6,569 15,386 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 998 10,216 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 11,039 823 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 12,037 11,039 

* Refer to note 1 for further details on restatement. 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

30 June 2021

Note 1. Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out either in the respective 
notes or below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. The adoption of these 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position 
of the Group.

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the Group:

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework)
The Group has adopted the revised Conceptual Framework from 1 July 2020. The Conceptual Framework contains new 
definition and recognition criteria as well as new guidance on measurement that affects several Accounting Standards, but 
it has not had a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Decision on Software-as-a-Service (SaaS)
IFRIC has issued two final agenda decisions on cloud computing arrangements. The March 2019 decision considers 
whether a customer receives a software asset at the contract commencement date or a service over the contract term. 
The April 2021 decision builds on the 2019 decision and considers how a customer accounts for configuration or 
customisation costs where an intangible asset is not recognised. There has been no material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements due to implementation of the decisions as the majority of the systems used by the Group are within the control 
of the Group, either by virtue of being internally developed systems or having been acquired on a perpetual license 
arrangement and hosted on premises. 

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001, as 
appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, derivative 
financial instruments.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 2.
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Working capital position
For the year ended 30 June 2021 the Group reported a loss after tax of $18,078,000 (2020: profit of $196,000) and had 
an excess of current liabilities over current assets of $1,451,000 (2020: $14,255,000). Included in the loss reported is 
$4,102,000 of IPO costs and a non-cash loss on changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares of $18,597,000. 
The operations of the business generated positive cashflows of $6,568,000 (2020: $8,636,000) for the year. The Group has 
unutilised finance facilities of $18,000,000 as at the date of this report. The Group is forecasting positive cashflows into the 
future and does not foresee any issues meeting its obligations as they fall due. 

Parent entity information
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 27.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Booktopia Group Limited 
(‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 2021 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Booktopia 
Group Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the ‘Group’.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration 
transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity 
attributable to the parent.

Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The Group 
recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain 
or loss in profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Booktopia Group Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Company’s functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Current and non-current classification
Assets and liabilities are presented in the balance sheet based on current and non-current classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the Group’s 
normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after 
the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle; it is 
held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is 
no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other 
liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.
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Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.

Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Statement of cash flows – restatement of comparatives
A detailed review of the Statement of cash flows comparatives presented for the 30 June 2020 year end was undertaken. 
This identified inaccuracies in relation to the disclosure of cash flows for that period. The Group has also made a voluntary 
accounting policy change in relation to the presentation of finance charges and interest income in the Statement of cash 
flows, being a more relevant presentation for the Group. The nature and impact are summarised as follows:

CASH FLOWS 
FROM 

OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 

$’000 

CASH FLOWS 
FROM 

INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES  

$’000

CASH FLOWS 
FROM 

FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 

$’000
TOTAL  
$’000

Previously presented 5,477 (12,654) 17,118 9,941

Changes in comparatives due to inaccuracies – – – –

Payments for property, plant and equipment 1,190 (1,190) – –

Lease principal payments (870) – 870 –

Cash equivalents disclosed as receivables 
previously

275 – – 275

Other reclassifications (234) 5 229 –

Voluntary accounting policy changes – – – –

Reclassification of interest received as an 
investing cash flow

(33) 33 – –

Reclassification of interest and other finance costs 
paid as a financing cash flow

2,831 – (2,831) –

Restated cash flow totals  
for year ended 30 June 2020 8,636 (13,806) 15,386 10,216

Comparatives
In addition to the changes to the 2020 statement of cash flow noted above, other comparatives have also been reclassified 
for consistency with the current period presentation. There was no significant impact on profit, assets, liabilities or equity as 
a result of these reclassifications.
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New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, 
have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2021. The Group has assessed 
the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations as not being significant.

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may 
have, on the Group based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services 
offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Group operates. To date the Group has been 
able to commercially navigate the challenges posed by the impact of the pandemic, and expects to be able to do so for the 
foreseeable future assuming there is no significant deterioration of conditions.

Estimation of useful lives of assets
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, 
plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical 
innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than 
previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written 
off or written down.

Net realisable value of inventory
The Group has reviewed the inventory balances for indicators that non-returnable inventory is being carried at a value 
above which it is expected to be realised. Indicators included aged and slow-moving inventory, and products that have a 
listed selling price discounted below their cost, as well as historical trends.

Lease term
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Judgement 
is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or purchase the 
underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when ascertaining the 
periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an 
economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease 
commencement date. Factors considered may include the importance of the asset to the Group’s operations; comparison 
of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence of significant leasehold 
improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain 
to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change 
in circumstances.

Capitalisation of development costs
The Group invests heavily in internally generated software, as a key component of the business’s operating model. As part 
of determining the values to be capitalised, the Group makes judgements as to whether the costs being capitalised meet 
the criteria for capitalisation; in particular whether an asset is being created or enhanced, and whether the costs being 
capitalised are directly attributable to the asset. These judgements are based on a thorough and detailed understanding 
of the costs being incurred and their relationship to the identifiable asset.
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Note 3. Operating segments
Identification of reportable operating segments
The Group operates in one segment being the sale and distribution of books and book-related products through its online 
platforms. This operating segment is based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors, 
that is identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM’) in assessing performance and in determining the 
allocation of resources. The operating segment information is the same information as provided throughout the financial 
statements and therefore not duplicated here.

The CODM reviews EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation). The accounting policies adopted 
for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the financial statements.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(Loss)/profit before income tax (18,029) 830 

Less: Interest income (37) (33)

Add: Interest expense 4,374 2,441 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation 4,490 3,261 

Reported EBITDA (9,202) 6,499 

IPO costs 4,102 – 

IPO related employee share award 152 – 

Changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares 18,597 880 

EBITDA for the segment 13,649 7,379 

The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis. Refer to note 4 for information on geographical areas. 

Significant customers
During the year ended 30 June 2021 there were no significant customers (2020: none). A customer is considered significant 
if its revenues are 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.

Accounting policy for operating segments
Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible for the 
allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.

Note 4. Revenue

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Sales of goods 223,886 165,678 

Disaggregation of revenue
The major revenue stream is the sale of book and book adjacent products to the Australian and New Zealand markets. 
Sales to New Zealand customers represent 1.1% of the total (2020: 1.1%).
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Accounting policy for revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the product is reasonably certain to have been received by the customer 
in good condition. Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Group: identifies 
the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price 
which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price 
to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good to be 
delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer 
to the customer of the goods promised.

Note 5. Expenses

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(Loss)/profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Plant and equipment depreciation (note 10) 1,710 819 

Right-of-use assets depreciation (note 11) 1,122 1,123 

Intangible asset amortisation (note 12) 1,658 1,319 

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 4,490 3,261 

Finance costs

Interest and finance charges on borrowings* 2,906 867 

Interest on lease liabilities 1,468 1,574 

Finance costs expensed 4,374 2,441 

Leases

Short-term lease payments 152 144 

Employee benefits expense

Defined contribution superannuation expense 1,886 1,517 

Share-based payments expense** 403 – 

Other non-disclosable employee benefits expense 26,333 18,826 

Total employee benefits expense 28,622 20,343 

* The increase in interest on borrowings during the year corresponds to significant borrowing in place for the first half of the year, which was fully 
repaid prior to the listing.

** Refer to note 32 for further information on accounting policy for share-based payment expense.

Accounting policy for finance costs
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.
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Note 6. Income tax

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Income tax expense

Current tax 137 422 

Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences 105 212 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods on deferred tax (193) – 

Aggregate income tax expense 49 634 

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease in deferred tax assets 105 212 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

(Loss)/profit before income tax expense (18,029) 830 

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% (5,409) 249 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Amortisation of intangibles 24 83 

Changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares 5,579 264 

Other items 48 38 

242 634 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods on deferred tax (193) – 

Income tax expense 49 634 

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Amounts credited directly to equity

Deferred tax assets (1,181) – 
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2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Leases 3,377 3,555 

Provisions 1,003 687 

Working capital balances 246 106 

Property, plant and equipment (241) – 

Intangible assets (1,440) (584)

Right-of-use assets (2,871) (3,097)

IPO costs (deductible in future periods) 810 129 

884 796 

Amounts recognised in equity:

Capitalised IPO and transaction costs 1,181 – 

Deferred tax asset 2,065 796 

Movements:

Opening balance 796 1,008 

Charged to profit or loss (105) (212)

Credited to equity 1,181 – 

Prior year adjustments 193 – 

Closing balance 2,065 796 

Accounting policy for income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for:

 • When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or

 • When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and 
the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for 
the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously.

Note 7. Cash and cash equivalents

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current assets

Cash at bank 12,037 11,039 

Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Note 8. Trade and other receivables

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current assets

Trade receivables 1,061 553 

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (4) – 

1,057 553 

Other receivables 223 74 

1,280 627 

The trade receivables are substantially all within their credit terms which is generally 30 days from date of invoice.

Allowance for expected credit losses
The Group has recognised a loss of $4,000 (2020: $nil) in profit or loss in respect of the expected credit losses for the year 
ended 30 June 2021.

Accounting policy for trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement 
within 30 days.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

annual report 2021

59



Note 9. Inventories

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current assets

Merchandise – at cost 17,644 11,894 

Consumable inventory 567 282 

Less: Provision for impairment (100) – 

18,111 12,176 

The amount of inventory recognised as an expense during the year ended as at 30 June 2021 is $137,625,000 (2020: 
$101,118,000).

Accounting policy for inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a ‘first in first out’ basis. Cost comprises of purchase 
and delivery costs, net of rebates and discounts received or receivable.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

Note 10. Property, plant and equipment

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Non-current assets

Leasehold improvements – at cost 1,528 1,006 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (713) (559)

815 447 

Computer equipment – at cost 873 588 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (488) (362)

385 226 

Plant and other equipment – at cost* 21,013 8,150 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (5,200) (3,781)

15,813 4,369 

Assets under construction 4,634 9,032 

21,647 14,074 

* The increase in plant and other equipment costs relate to significant investment in the automation of processes with the distribution centre.
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Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVE-

MENTS 
$’000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT

$’000

PLANT AND 
OTHER  

EQUIPMENT*

$’000

ASSETS UNDER 
CONSTRUC-

TION
$’000

TOTAL
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 522 195 3,686 – 4,403

Additions 58 112 1,288 8,556 10,014

Borrowing costs capitalised – – – 476 476

Depreciation expense (133) (81) (605) – (819)

Balance at 30 June 2020 447 226 4,369 9,032 14,074

Additions 212 278 39 8,380 8,909

Borrowing costs capitalised – – – 374 374

Transfers in/(out) 310 7 12,835 (13,152) –

Depreciation expense (154) (126) (1,430) – (1,710)

Balance at 30 June 2021 815 385 15,813 4,634 21,647

* The increase in plant and other equipment costs relate to significant investment in the automation of processes with the distribution centre.

Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment  3 – 7 years

Plant and other equipment 3 – 15 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets 
(10 years), whichever is shorter.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
Group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.
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Note 11. Right-of-use assets

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Non-current assets

Premises – right-of-use assets 11,955 11,006 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,730) (1,787)

9,225 9,219 

Equipment – right-of-use assets 814 814 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (468) (325)

346 489 

9,571 9,708 

The Group leases premises for its offices and distributions centre under agreements ending in nine years including options 
to extend that are expected to be exercised. The leases have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the terms of the leases 
are renegotiated. 

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

PREMISES 
$’000

EQUIPMENT 
$’000

TOTAL 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 10,112 719 10,831

Depreciation expense (893) (230) (1,123)

Balance at 30 June 2020 9,219 489 9,708

Additions 967 – 967

Remeasurement 18 – 18

Depreciation expense (979) (143) (1,122)

Balance at 30 June 2021 9,225 346 9,571

For other AASB 16 Leases disclosures, refer to:

 • note 5 for depreciation on right-of-use assets and other expenses relating to short-term leases;

 • note 5 for interest on lease liabilities;

 • note 16 for lease liabilities; and

 • consolidated statement of cash flows for repayment of lease liabilities.

Accounting policy for right-of-use assets
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in 
the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, 
and restoring the site or asset.
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of 
the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted 
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with 
terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss 
as incurred.

Note 12. Intangibles

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Non-current assets

Goodwill – at cost 213 213 

Software – at cost 15,171 12,337 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (6,046) (4,543)

9,125 7,794 

Other intangibles – at cost 781 709 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (730) (686)

51 23 

9,389 8,030 

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

GOODWILL 
$’000

SOFTWARE 
$’000

OTHER 
INTANGIBLES 

$’000
TOTAL 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 213 5,141 165 5,519

Additions – 3,830 – 3,830

Amortisation expense – (1,177) (142) (1,319)

Balance at 30 June 2020 213 7,794 23 8,030

Additions – 2,945 72 3,017

Amortisation expense – (1,614) (44) (1,658)

Balance at 30 June 2021 213 9,125 51 9,389

Goodwill acquired through acquisition was allocated to the Group’s single cash generating unit (‘CGU’), being the online 
sale of Book and similar product to customers in Australian and New Zealand. This CGU has strong cashflow projections, 
relative to the asset cost base, and as such the review performed did not identify an impairment. No reasonable change to 
any assumptions used during the review would indicate an impairment.
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Accounting policy for intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value 
at the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible 
assets are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are 
subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising 
from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes 
in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation 
method or period.

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not 
subsequently reversed.

Other intangibles
Other intangibles are recognised at cost and fair value at the acquisition date. They are subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation on a straight-line basis over their useful life of 5 years.

Software
Costs associated with maintaining software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets where the following criteria are met:

 • it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;

 • management intends to complete the software and use or sell it;

 • there is an ability to use or sell the software;

 • it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefit;

 • adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software are 
available; and

 • the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee costs.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready 
for use or enhancement. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful life of 10 years. The remaining useful life is 
assessed annually and adjusted as required. 

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 
form a cash-generating unit.
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Note 13. Trade and other payables

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current liabilities

Trade payables 17,400 18,290 

Accrued expenses 1,608 1,501 

GST payable 464 788 

Other payables 842 77 

20,314 20,656 

Refer to note 21 for further information on financial instruments.

Accounting policy for trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Note 14. Contract liabilities

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current liabilities

Contract liabilities 11,384 7,725 

Reconciliation

Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current  
and previous financial year are set out below:

Opening balance 7,725 3,433 

Payments received from customers 227,545 169,970 

Performance obligations met – opening balance (7,725) (3,433)

Performance obligations met – other (216,161) (162,245)

Closing balance 11,384 7,725 

Unsatisfied performance obligations
At the end of a period, a contract liability exists to our customers for the delivery of their paid orders. It is expected that 
substantially all of the unsatisfied performance obligations will be satisfied within the next twelve months, and the revenue 
recognised in that period.

Accounting policy for contract liabilities
Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are recognised when a 
customer pays consideration, or when the Group recognises a receivable to reflect its unconditional right to consideration 
(whichever is earlier) before the Group has transferred the goods or services to the customer.
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Note 15. Borrowings

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current liabilities

Redeemable preference shares (note 21) – 6,400 

Non-current liabilities

Loan from Longreach Credit Investors – 12,000 

Deferred borrowing costs – (648)

– 11,352 

Refer to note 21 for further information on financial instruments.

At 30 June 2021, the Group had $6,000,000 undrawn secured overdraft limit with CBA.

At 30 June 2020, the Group had fully drawn down on the $12,000,000 Longreach Credit Investors loan facility.

Accounting policy for borrowings
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Note 16. Lease liabilities

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current liabilities

Lease liability 584 516 

Non-current liabilities

Lease liability 10,918 11,618 

Refer to note 21 for the contractual maturity of lease liability.

Accounting policy for lease liabilities
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of 
fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is 
reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on 
an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured 
if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 
guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an 
adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset is fully written down.
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Note 17. Derivative financial instruments

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current liabilities

Embedded derivative financial instrument – 2,480 

Refer to note 21 for further information on financial instruments.

Refer to note 22 for further information on fair value measurement.

Accounting policy for derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on 
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

Derivatives are classified as current or non-current depending on the expected period of realisation.

Note 18. Provisions

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current liabilities

Annual leave 1,429 1,418 

Long service leave 587 227 

2,016 1,645 

Non-current liabilities

Long service leave 356 645 

Lease make good 972 – 

1,328 645 

Lease make good
The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Group at the 
end of the respective lease terms.

Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2021

LEASE MAKE 
GOOD  
$’000

Carrying amount at the start of the year –

Additional provisions recognised 984

Unwinding of discount (12)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 972
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Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months
The current provision for employee benefits includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the 
required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The 
entire amount is presented as current, since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. However, 
based on past experience, the Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require 
payment within the next 12 months.

The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be taken within the next 12 months:

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Employee benefits obligation expected to be settled after 12 months 1,988 1,622 

Accounting policy for provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in 
the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Lease make good provision
The Group has obligations under its property leasing agreements to undertake certain remedial works at the end of 
the lease.

Accounting policy for employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled.

Other long-term employee benefits
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high quality 
corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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Note 19. Issued capital

2021
SHARES

2020
SHARES

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Ordinary shares – fully paid 137,359,299 113,470,527 52,110 311 

Less: Treasury shares held by the Company in trust (172,743) – (439) – 

137,186,556 113,470,527 51,671 311 

Movements in ordinary share capital

DETAILS DATE SHARES ISSUE PRICE $’000

Balance 1 July 2019 113,470,527 311

Balance 30 June 2020 113,470,527 311

Issue of shares 30 October 2020 310,082 $1.215 377

Conversion of redeemable preference shares 29 November 2020 12,642,289 $2.300 29,077

Issue of shares 30 November 2020 10,869,565 $2.300 25,000

Issue of shares to employees 30 November 2020 66,836 $2.300 152

Share of IPO costs, net of tax – – (2,807)

Treasury shares acquired 8 March 2021 (172,743) $2.540 (439)

Balance 30 June 2021 137,186,556 51,671

On 2 November 2020, the Company lodged its prospectus with Australian Securities and Investments Commission (‘ASIC’) 
for an IPO of 18.73 million ordinary shares at $2.30 per share (7.86 million shares of existing shareholders and 10.87 million 
shares issued by the Company). The offer closed on 24 November 2020 with the Company successfully admitted to the 
ASX under the code ‘BKG’ on 2 December 2020.

Total IPO costs amounted to $7,985,000. Of this amount $3,883,000 ($2,807,000 net of tax) has been recognised in equity 
with the remaining costs of $4,102,000 expensed under ‘IPO costs’ in the statement of profit or loss.

On 29 November 2020, the Company converted 12.64 million redeemable preference shares in connection with the IPO. 
Converted shares were accounted in Issued capital at fair value at the conversion date. Carrying amounts of redeemable 
preference shares of $8,000,000 and embedded derivative of $2,600,000 were derecognised with resulting loss of 
$18,597,000 accounted in the statement of profit or loss.

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in any dividends declared and any proceeds attributable to shareholders 
should the Company be wound up, in proportions that consider both the number of shares held and the extent to which 
those shares are paid up. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited 
amount of authorised capital.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote.

172,743 ordinary shares are held in trust for the purpose of meeting future obligations under current share based payment 
arrangements. As the Group controls the trust, it is included in the consolidated numbers presented above.

Shares in escrow
At 30 June 2021, the total number of shares subject to voluntary escrow is 103,546,192. Of these, 48,410,455 were released 
from escrow on 27 August 2021 following the 5-day VWAP share price exceeding the preset hurdle of $2.76 (during the 
period 13-19 August 2021). A further 19,868,627 will be released from escrow on 13 September 2021. Thereafter, the 
remaining escrow shares will be released in equal volumes two weeks after the release of the half year results for the period 
ending 31 December 2021, and the full year results for the year ending 30 June 2022.
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Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital.

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the balance sheet, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as value adding 
relative to the current Company’s share price at the time of the investment. The Group is not actively pursuing additional 
investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses in order to maximise synergies.

The Group is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority in all capital risk 
management decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the financial year.

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 2020 Annual Report.

Accounting policy for issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

Where any company purchases the Company’s equity instruments, for example, as the result of a share buy-back or a 
share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income 
taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the owners of Booktopia Group Limited as treasury shares until the shares are 
cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental borrowing costs and related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the owners of 
Booktopia Group Limited.

Note 20. Dividends
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

Note 21. Financial instruments
Financial risk management objectives
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group 
uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis 
in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and ageing analysis for credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (‘finance’) under policies approved by the Board of Directors 
(‘the Board’). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Group and appropriate 
procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the Group’s operating 
units. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk through 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash 
flow forecasting.
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NET 
LIABILITIES 

2021 
$’000

NET 
LIABILITIES 

2020 
$’000

US dollars 1,726 1,499

Pound Sterling 965 206

Other 31 185

2,722 1,890

The Group had net liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of $2,722,000 as at 30 June 2021 (2020: $1,890,000). Based 
on this exposure, had the Australian dollars weakened by 20%/strengthened by 20% against these foreign currencies 
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax for the year would have been $544,000 lower/$544,000 
higher (2020: $378,000 lower/$378,000 higher) and equity would have been $381,000 lower/$381,000 higher (2020: $265,000 
lower/$265,000 higher). The percentage change is the expected overall volatility of the significant currencies, which is 
based on management’s assessment of reasonable possible fluctuations taking into consideration movements over the 
last 36 months. The actual foreign exchange gain for the year ended 30 June 2021 was $18,000 (2020: loss of $9,000).

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to any significant price risk.

Interest rate risk
The Group does not have any significant interest rate exposure.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, confirming references and 
setting appropriate credit limits. The Group obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. The Group does not 
hold any collateral.

The Group has adopted a lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade receivables 
through the use of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These provisions are considered 
representative across all customers of the Group based on recent sales experience, historical collection rates and forward-
looking information that is available.

Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of this include 
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, no active enforcement activity and a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period greater than 1 year.

Liquidity risk
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents) 
and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by continuously 
monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Remaining contractual maturities
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the balance sheet.
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2021

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 
INTEREST 

 RATE
%

1 YEAR  
OR LESS

$’000

BETWEEN  
1 AND  

2 YEARS
$’000

BETWEEN  
2 AND  

5 YEARS
$’000

OVER  
5 YEARS

$’000

REMAINING  
CONTRACTUAL  

MATURITIES
$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables – 17,400 – – – 17,400

Other payables – 842 – – – 842

Interest-bearing – 
fixed rate

Lease liability 12.70% 2,001 2,041 6,155 9,799 19,996

Total non-derivatives 20,243 2,041 6,155 9,799 38,238

2020

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 
INTEREST 

 RATE
%

1 YEAR  
OR LESS

$’000

BETWEEN  
1 AND  

2 YEARS
$’000

BETWEEN  
2 AND  

5 YEARS
$’000

OVER  
5 YEARS

$’000

REMAINING  
CONTRACTUAL  

MATURITIES
$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables – 18,290 – – – 18,290

Other payables – 77 – – – 77

Interest-bearing – 
variable

Bank loans 9.00% 1,696 2,362 11,222 – 15,280

Interest-bearing – 
fixed rate

Lease liability 12.70% 1,996 1,882 5,940 13,201 23,019

Redeemable 
preference shares

12.00% 768 768 7,168 – 8,704

Total non-derivatives 22,827 5,012 24,330 13,201 65,370

Derivatives

Embedded derivative 
financial instrument

– 2,480 – – – 2,480

Total derivatives 2,480 – – – 2,480

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually 
disclosed above.

Fair value of financial instruments
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

booktopia

72

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued



Note 22. Fair value measurement
Fair value hierarchy
The following tables detail the Group’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

2021
LEVEL 1

$’000
LEVEL 2

$’000
LEVEL 3

$’000
TOTAL
$’000

Assets – – – –

Total assets – – – –

Liabilities – – – –

Total liabilities – – – –

2020
LEVEL 1

$’000
LEVEL 2

$’000
LEVEL 3

$’000
TOTAL
$’000

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments – 2,480 – 2,480

Total liabilities – 2,480 – 2,480

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature.

The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 
interest rate that is available for similar financial liabilities.

Valuation techniques for fair value measurements categorised within level 2 and level 3
Derivative financial instruments have been valued using quoted market rates. This valuation technique maximises the use of 
observable market data where it is available and relies as little as possible on entity specific estimates.

Accounting policy for fair value measurement
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the 
fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the 
principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value are those that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and which maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and 
transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement.
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For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not 
available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge and 
reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis 
is undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, where 
applicable, with external sources of data.

Note 23. Key management personnel disclosures
Compensation
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set 
out below:

2021
$

2020
$

Short-term employee benefits 2,787,699 1,774,544 

Post-employment benefits 158,888 – 

Long-term benefits 79,560 414,230 

Share-based payments 195,462 – 

3,221,609 2,188,774 

Note 24. Remuneration of auditor
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the 
auditor of the Company:

2021
$

2020
$

Audit services

Audit or review of the financial statements 515,193 123,861 

Other services 

Other assurance services 221,470 – 

Tax compliance and other services 229,913 22,750 

451,383 22,750 

966,576 146,611 

Note 25. Contingent liabilities
The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Note 26. Related party transactions
Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 28.

Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 23 and the remuneration report included in the 
directors’ report.
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Transactions with related parties
Close family members of KMP (who meet the definition of related parties) employed by the business on an arm’s length 
basis received remuneration for their services of $184,143 (2020: $168,169).

On 2 December 2020, on completion of the IPO, the Redeemable Preference shares held by Libertopia Pty Ltd (an entity 
related to Su-Ming Wong) were converted to Ordinary shares at the IPO share value of $2.30. As a result, a loss of 
$18,597,000 was recognised by the Group.

Receivable from and payable to related parties
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Loans to/from related parties
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to loans with related parties:

2021
$

2020
$

Non-current receivables:

Shareholder loans – 1,009,565 

Terms and conditions
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, unless stated otherwise.

Note 27. Parent entity information
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(Loss)/profit after income tax 231 (1,054)

Total comprehensive income 231 (1,054)

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Total current assets – – 

Total assets 51,043 19,178 

Total current liabilities – 9,104 

Total liabilities – 20,232 

Equity

Issued capital 51,671 – 

Share-based payments reserve 195 – 

Accumulated losses (823) (1,054)

Total shareholders’ equity 51,043 (1,054)
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Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
The parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Contingent liabilities
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Capital commitments – Property, plant and equipment
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 1, except for 
the following:

 • Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

 • Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an 
indicator of an impairment of the investment.

Note 28. Interests in subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1:

OWNERSHIP INTEREST

NAME

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF 
BUSINESS/COUNTRY  
OF INCORPORATION

2021  
%

2020  
%

Making IT Better Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Virtual Lifestyles Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Booktopia Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Note 29.  Reconciliation of (loss)/profit after income tax to net cash 
from operating activities

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(Loss)/profit after income tax expense for the year (18,078) 196 

Adjustments for:

Changes in the fair value of redeemable preference shares 18,597 880 

Depreciation and amortisation 4,490 3,261 

Finance costs 4,374 2,441 

IPO costs 327 – 

Share-based payments 195 – 

Employee share award 153 – 

Interest received (37) (33)
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2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (653) 41 

Increase in inventories (5,935) (3,531)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 214 (1,088)

Increase in financial assets at amortised cost – (370)

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (170) 212 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (342) 1,612 

Increase in contract liabilities 3,659 4,292 

Increase/(decrease) in income tax balance (308) 67 

Increase in provisions 82 656 

Net cash from operating activities 6,568 8,636 

Note 30. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

BORROWINGS
$’000

LEASE 
LIABILITIES

$’000

LOANS TO 
SHARE- 

HOLDERS
$’000

TOTAL
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,161 13,208 (1,010) 13,359

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 18,609 (2,064) – 16,545

Capitalised borrowing costs (648) – – (648)

Changes in fair value of redeemable preference 
shares

880 – – 880

Interest on leases liabilities – 1,574 – 1,574

Amortisation of borrowing costs 184 – – 184

Derivative financial instruments (2,480) – – (2,480)

Other changes 46 (584) – (538)

Balance at 30 June 2020 17,752 12,134 (1,010) 28,876

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (12,000) (2,116) 1,010 (13,106)

Book value of redeemable preference shares 
converted

(6,400) – – (6,400)

Amortisation of borrowing costs 648 – – 648

Interest on leases liabilities – 1,468 – 1,468

Other changes – 16 – 16

Balance at 30 June 2021 – 11,502 – 11,502
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Note 31. Earnings per share

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(Loss)/profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Booktopia Group Limited (18,078) 196 

NUMBER NUMBER

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings 
per share

127,352,669 113,470,527

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings 
per share

127,352,669 113,470,527

CENTS CENTS

Basic earnings per share (14.20) 0.17

Diluted earnings per share (14.20) 0.17

172,743 performance rights over ordinary shares are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they 
are antidilutive for the year ended 30 June 2021. These rights could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.

Accounting policy for earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Booktopia Group Limited, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming conversion of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Note 32. Share-based payments
On 30 October 2020, the Company established a Long Term Incentive Plan Rules (‘LTIP’) to assist in the motivation, retention 
and reward of certain employees. The LTIP was designed to align the interests of participants with the interests of shareholders 
by providing an opportunity for participants to receive an equity interest in the Company through the granting of awards. 
Under the LTIP, eligible participants may be offered share awards subject to vesting conditions set by the Board. On 
31 December 2020, 172,743 share awards were granted subject to service, EPS growth and total shareholder return conditions.

On 31 December 2020, the Company issued 172,743 performance rights, with one third vesting in 6, 18 and 30 months, and 
an expiry date 4 January 2026. The number of performance rights in issue at year end was 172,743 (2020: nil).

The expense recognised during the period in the Statement of profit or loss was $195,000.

The performance rights (‘PR’) entitles the participant to acquire a share on vesting at nil exercise price, subject to the 
satisfaction of vesting conditions. PR will be automatically exercised and no exercise price is payable. PR were issued to the 
participant at no cost as they form part of the participant’s remuneration.

There are two types of PR, Tranche A and Tranche B. Both tranches are divided into three equal tranches. Each tranche will 
be tested over a different performance period (each relevant performance period) as follows:

– Tranche 1: performance tested from 1 January 2021 – 30 June 2021

– Tranche 2: performance tested from 1 January 2021 – 30 June 2022

– Tranche 3: performance tested from 1 January 2021 – 30 June 2023
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Performance conditions;

– Tranche A will be tested against the Company’s shareholder return (‘TSR’) relative to a comparator group over the 
performance period (‘TSR rights’), and

– Tranche B will be tested absolute earnings per share (‘EPS’) compound annual growth rate (‘CAGR’) over the relevant 
performance periods (‘EPS rights’).

For the performance rights granted during the year, the key inputs used in the model to determine the fair value at the 
grant date are; an issue date share price of $2.62, expected volatility of 45% and risk free rates of between 0.05% and 
0.11% depending on the performance period.

INSTRUMENT

VALUE PER  
PERFORMANCE  

RIGHT

NUMBER PER 
PERFORMANCE  

RIGHT 
TOTAL 

 $
LIFE 

 (YEARS)
PERFORMANCE 

 HURDLE

Tranche A1 $1.410 28,790 40,594 0.5 Relative TSR

Tranche A2 $1.619 28,790 46,611 1.5 Relative TSR

Tranche A3 $1.735 28,790 49,951 2.5 Relative TSR

Tranche B1 $2.620 28,791 75,432 0.5 EPS

Tranche B2 $2.620 28,791 75,432 1.5 EPS

Tranche B3 $2.620 28,791 75,431 2.5 EPS

Total 172,743 363,451

Accounting policy for share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to KMP.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined 
using the Monte Carlo Simulation for tranche A and Black-Scholes for tranche B, option pricing models that takes into 
account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, 
together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the Group receives the services that entitle the KMP 
to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the 
best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already 
recognised in previous periods.

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. 

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions 
are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are 
satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. 
An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or KMP, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as a 
cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or KMP and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any 
remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award 
is treated as if they were a modification.
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Note 33. Events after the reporting period
The consequences of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic are continuing to be felt around the world, and its impact 
on the Group, if any, has been reflected in its published results to date. Whilst it would appear that control measures and 
related government policies have started to mitigate the risks caused by COVID-19, the recent Delta variant has resulted 
in further lockdowns in several States in Australia, particularly on the Eastern Seaboard, since the reporting date. It is not 
possible at this time to state how the pandemic will subsequently impact the Group’s operations going forward, especially 
if these lockdowns continue.

On 14 July 2021, the Group entered into a new finance facility with Commonwealth Bank. Under the term of this agreement 
the total agreed facilities to the Group increased from $7,247,000 to $19,247,000 (of which $18,000,000 is available).

On 22 July 2021, the Group announced their partnership with an UK-based Welbeck Publishing Group (‘WPG’) to ramp up 
expansion in the growing ANZ market. Booktopia has entered into a non-binding agreement to secure a 25% stake in the 
London-based publisher’s new standalone Australian subsidiary (Welbeck ANZ). The deal is expected to be finalised by 
30 September 2021 and Welbeck ANZ is expected to be fully operational in January 2022. 

On 27 August 2021, the Group signed a lease agreement for an additional Distribution Centre to be based in Strathfield. 
The estimated value of the right-of-use asset balance and related lease liability balance arising from the execution of this 
contract are $14,353,000.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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directors’ declaration
30 June 2021

In the directors’ opinion:

 • the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

 • the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements;

 • the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 
and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

 • there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Christopher (Chris) Beare
Chairman

30 August 2021
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Independent auditor’s report 

To the members of Booktopia Group Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Booktopia Group Limited (the Company) and its controlled 
entities (together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

● the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2021 
● the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
● the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
● the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then 

ended 
● the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory information 
● the directors’ declaration. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
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Our audit approach 
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 

 

Materiality 

● For the purpose of our audit we used overall Group materiality of $1.12 million, which represents 
approximately 0.5% of the Group’s total revenues. 

● We applied this threshold, together with qualitative considerations, to determine the scope of our audit 
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements on 
the financial report as a whole. 

● We chose Group total revenues because, in our view, it is the benchmark against which the performance of 
the Group is most commonly measured.  

● We utilised a 0.5% threshold based on professional judgement, noting it is within the range of commonly 
acceptable thresholds. 

Audit scope 

● Our audit focused on where the Group made subjective judgements; for example, significant accounting 
estimates involving assumptions and inherently uncertain future events. 

● The Group is principally involved in selling books, audiobooks, DVDs and e-books to customers across 
Australia and New Zealand. The accounting processes are structured around a group finance function at its 
head office in Sydney.  

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context. We communicated the key audit matters to the 
Audit and Risk Committee. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Inventory existence and valuation  
(Refer to note 9) [$18.111m] 

Inventory management is a key business process for 
the Group. Inventory represents a significant asset on 
the consolidated balance sheet of $18.111 million. 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.  

Inventory existence and valuation was a key audit 
matter because of: 

● the financial significance of the inventory 
balance in the consolidated balance sheet 

● the judgements required by the Group to 
determine the net realisable value (NRV) of 
inventory. 

 

Our procedures to test inventory existence included, 
amongst others: 
 
● evaluating the design of cycle counting at the 

distribution centre 
● observing a sample of cycle counts and inspecting 

management’s documentation for a sample of 
cycle counts 

● obtaining evidence regarding explanations for 
variances or inspecting the final inventory listing 
for adjustments of variances 

● inspecting a sample of inventory items selected in 
the inventory listing 

● evaluating whether inventory was recorded in the 
correct period by obtaining relevant invoices for a 
sample of transactions that were recorded during 
a defined risk period before and after year end.  
 

Our procedures to test inventory valuation included, 
amongst others: 

 
● testing the accuracy and completeness of 

information used in management's assessment of 
the NRV provision by reconciling the inventory 
ageing report to the general ledger and 
supporting documentation 

● assessing the explanations provided by 
management on the current profile and age of 
inventory by obtaining relevant  invoices and 
other supporting documentation for a sample of 
inventory items and inquiring with the relevant 
supervisor in relation to the items  

● inspecting the physical condition of inventory 
during the observation of a sample of stock counts 
performed 

● for a sample of inventory items, inspecting 
purchase and subsequent sale documentation to 
assess whether the items were measured at the 
lower of cost or net realisable value. 
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Capitalisation of software development costs  
(Refer to note 12) [$9.125m] 

At 30 June 2021 the carrying value of capitalised 
software development costs amounted to $9.125 
million primarily related to the Group websites and 
internally developed software. These costs are mainly 
represented by employee benefits expenses. 

The assessment of whether specific criteria for 
capitalisation of development costs in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards has been met, 
involves judgement about, amongst other things, the 
generation of future economic benefits. 

Capitalisation of software development costs was a key 
audit matter due to: 

● the financial significance of intangible assets 
balance in the consolidated balance sheet 

● the judgements described above. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

● testing the mathematical accuracy of 
management labour capitalisation schedules  

● evaluating on a sample basis projects where time 
was capitalised against capitalisation criteria in 
Australian Accounting Standards 

● testing on a sample basis capitalised labour costs 
through:  
o testing the timesheets and other supporting 

documentation for hours capitalised  
o comparing salary information to supporting 

documentation; and  
o holding discussions with supervisors of 

relevant employees to evaluate accuracy of 
projects assigned and hours assumptions 
used. 

● assessing whether costs capitalised were 
transferred to appropriate asset categories and 
appropriate amortisation rates were applied in 
accordance with Group’s accounting policy 

● assessing the reasonableness of the Group's 
disclosure in the financial report in light of 
Australian Accounting Standards’ requirements. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, the other 
information we obtained included the Corporate directory and  the Directors’ report. We expect the 
remaining other information to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our 
professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

 

annual report 2021

85



 

62 
 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of 
our auditor's report. 

Report on the remuneration report 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 11 to 21 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Booktopia Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.   
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Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Shannon Maher Sydney 
Partner 30 August 2021 
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Shareholder Information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (ASX) Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in the Report is set out below. 

Corporate Governance Statement
The Corporate Governance Statement can be found at:

https://investors.booktopia.com.au/investor-centre/?page=corporate-governance

Substantial shareholders 
The number of securities held by substantial shareholders and their associates (as notified to the ASX) are set out below: 

Fully paid Ordinary Shares 

NAME NUMBER %

Booktopia Group Limited* 35,267,110 25.68%

Tony Nash Enterprises Pty Ltd as trustee for the A L Nash Family Trust 22,839,343 16.63%

Roxygal Pty Ltd as trustee for the Benten Trust 20,691,877 15.06%

Nashtopia Pty Ltd as trustee for the Nash Family Trust 14,974,321 10.90%

Perennial Value Management Limited 10,749,344 7.83%

Lennox Capital Partners Pty Limited 10,432,641 7.60%

Challenger Limited and associated entities 10,432,641 7.60%

M & S Skyleisure Pty Limited 7,160,572 5.66%

Regal Funds Management Pty Ltd 7,764,377 5.65%

* Booktopia Group Ltd has aggregate voting power of 25.68% in Booktopia Group Limited (ASX:BKG) as a consequence of restrictions on the 
disposal of shares under voluntary escrow arrangements which give BKG a ‘technical relevant interest’ in its own shares under section 608(1)(c) of 
the Corporations Ac 2001 (Cth). The escrow arrangements were disclosed in BKG’s prospectus that was lodged with ASIC on 2 November 2020.

Number of security holders and securities on issue
Booktopia Group Limited has 137,359,299 fully paid ordinary shares on issue held by 2,004 shareholders.

Unquoted equity securities
There are 172,743 unquoted equity securities on issue held by 4 holders.

shareholder information
as at 21 September 2021
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Voting rights 
The voting rights attached to fully paid ordinary shares are that on a show of hands, every member present has one vote 
and upon a poll, every member present has one vote for each share held. 

Performance Rights do not carry dividend or voting rights prior to vesting and exercise. Shares allocated on exercise of 
Performance Rights carry the same dividend and voting rights as other Shares and rights to participate in corporate actions.

Distribution of security holders 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

RANGE SECURITIES %
NO. OF 

HOLDERS %

100,001 and Over 130,072,302 94.69 37 1.85

10,001 to 100,000 3,832,052 2.79 164 8.18

5,001 to 10,000 1,304,730 0.95 165 8.23

1,001 to 5,000 1,666,974 1.21 625 31.19

1 to 1,000 483,241 0.35 1,013 50.55

Total 137,359,299 100.00 2,004 100.00

Unmarketable Parcels 0 0.00 0 0.00

Performance Rights

CATEGORY
NO. OF 

HOLDERS SECURITIES
% OF 

SECURITIES

1 to 1,000 0 0 –

1,001 to 5,000 0 0 –

5,001 to 10,000 0 0 –

10,001 to 100,000 4 172,743 100

100,001 and over 0 0 –

Total 4 172,743 100.00

Unmarketable parcel of shares 
The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is nil based on Booktopia Group 
Limited’s closing share price of $2.67 on 21 September 2021.
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Twenty largest shareholders of quoted equity securities 

Fully paid ordinary shares 

RANK NAME 21 SEP 2021 %IC

1 TONY NASH ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 22,839,343 16.63

2 ROXYGAL PTY LTD 20,691,877 15.06

3 NASHTOPIA PTY LTD 14,971,260 10.90

4 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 10,197,035 7.42

5 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 6,859,789 4.99

6 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 6,853,366 4.99

7 CS THIRD NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 6,297,635 4.58

8 WAYNE BASKIN 5,000,000 3.64

9 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 4,318,893 3.14

10 AUSTRALIAN DIRECT INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED 4,151,868 3.02

11 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,023,336 2.20

12 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,762,915 2.01

13 LIBERTOPIA MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 2,666,733 1.94

14 MR AINSLEY FREDERICK JAMES HENDERSON 2,468,387 1.80

15 M & S SKYLEISURE PTY LTD 2,035,810 1.48

15 M & S SKYLEISURE PTY LTD 2,035,810 1.48

16 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 2,028,865 1.48

17 AUSTRALIAN DIRECT INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED 1,955,604 1.42

18 PHILLIP MAUNDRELL 1,431,242 1.04

19 WASHINGTON H SOUL PATTINSON AND COMPANY LIMITED 1,386,373 1.01

20 ANGELA KEIL-ZIPPERMAYR 1,140,261 0.83

Total 125,116,402 91.09

Balance of register 12,242,897 8.91

 Grand total 137,359,299 100.00

Voluntary escrow
There is a total of 35,267,110 shares subject to voluntary escrow with the following escrow dates:

 • 17,633,555 shares due to be released from escrow two weeks after the release of the Company’s half year FY22 results to ASX

 • 17,633,555 shares due to be released from escrow two weeks after the release of the Company’s full year FY22 results to ASX

On market buy-back 
There is no current on market buy-back. 

Securities purchased on-market for the purposes of an employee incentive scheme
During the reporting period, 172,743 shares were purchased for the purposes of an employee incentive scheme at an 
average share price of $2.54.
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corporate directory

Directors
Christopher (Chris) Beare – Chairman
Antony (Tony) Nash
Wayne Baskin
Steven Traurig
Fiona Pak-Poy
Marina Go
Su-Ming Wong

Company secretaries
Anna Sandham 
Steven Traurig 

Notice of annual general meeting
The details of the annual general meeting 
of Booktopia Group Limited are:

2:00pm on Monday 29 November 2021

Closing date for the receipt of Director nominations:

24 September 2021

Registered office
Unit E1
3-29 Birnie Avenue
Lidcombe NSW 2141

Phone: 1300 187 187

Share register
Link Market Services Limited
Level 12
680 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Phone: 1300 554 474

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Watermans Quay, Barangaroo
Sydney NSW 2000

Solicitors
Herbert Smith Freehills
ANZ Tower 
161 Castlereagh Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Bankers
Commonwealth Bank
Level 1
Harbour Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Stock exchange listing
Booktopia Group Limited shares are listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX code: BKG)

Website
www.booktopia.com.au

Business objectives
In accordance with Listing Rule 4.10.19 the Company 
confirms that the Group has been utilising the cash and 
assets in a form readily convertible to cash that it held 
at the time of its admission to the Official List of ASX 
since its admission to the end of the reporting period 
in a way that is consistent with its business objectives.
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An e-commerce leader
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